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1.  SUMMARY

The Ombudsman has decided to publish this report to ensure that any leader that is
convicted of an offence under the Penal Code Act is liable to be dealt with under the
Leadership Code Act, in addition to the punishment imposed under the Penal Code Act.

This report is about Mr Barak Tame Sope Maautamate who was convicted by the court under
the Penal Code Act for two counts of forgery on 19 July 2002 and, it is in accordance with the
Leadership Code Act that he should also be charged under section 27 of the Leadership
Code, in addition to the sentence he received under the Penal Code Act.

On 13 November 2002, His Excellency the President of the Republic pardoned Mr Sope of
the offences (sic) for which he was convicted. This pardon was made in accordance with
Article 38 of the Constitution.

On 13 February 2003, the Supreme Court ruled on Mr Sope’s claim that, he still remain as a
duly elected Member of Parliament by virtue of the legal effect of the Presidential pardon.
The Supreme Court of Vanuatu ruled that the Presidential pardon on 13 November 2002 was
only for the un-served period of the three years sentence.

The court ruled that it is important to understand that the Presidential pardon cannot override
nor stay the operation of an Act of Parliament, unless the Constitution as the supreme law
expressly so provides to this effect.

The pardon does not have a retroactive effect. It pardons the penalty of conviction from the
time it is granted. The pardon does not remove the conviction. Mr. Sope was convicted and
was sentenced to three years imprisonment. He served his imprisonment sentence from 18
July 2002 to 12 November 2002. He was, then, pardoned on 13 November 2002. It is the
un-served period of the three years sentence, at the time of the pardon, which has been
pardoned. If the submission of the Mr Sope stands, then, it will be dangerous because it will
create a legal friction. The conviction still stands and the President has no power to set it
aside. The effect of pardon is to make the plaintiff, a new man and to give him a new credit
from the date the pardon was granted. The pardan does not have retrospective effect of
undoing what was done. The pardon does not mean acquittal.

On the 8 May 2003, in Civil Case No. 04 of 2003, the Court of Appeal heard Mr Sope’s
appeal against the decision taken by the Supreme Court in Civil Case No. 199 of 2002.

On § May 2003, the Court of Appeal ruled that the Supreme Court was correct to refuse the
declarations sought by Mr Sope. The Court of Appeal dismissed the appeal by Mr Sope.

The Ombudsman found that Mr. Sope should have also been charged under Section 27 of
the Leadership Code that states a leader who is convicted by a court of an offence under the
Penal Code Act is in breach of the Code, and liable to be dealt with in accordance with
sections 41 and 42 of the Leadership Code Act in addition to any other punishment that may
be impesed under any other Act. In this case, the punishment referred to was the three years
conviction that was imposed by the Supreme Courl under the Penal Code Act.



The Ombudsman also found that in Civii Case No. 188 of 2002, the Supreme Court of
Vanuatu has ruled that the Presidential pardon on 13 November 2002 was only for the un-
served period of the three years sentence

The Ombudsman therefore recommends that;

« The Public Prosecutor must decide within period not exceeding three months of
receiving this report whether there are sufficient grounds or evidence to support a
prosecution under Section 27 of the Leadership Code Act.

+ The Public Prosecutor commences a prosecution against Mr. Barak Tame Sope
Maautamate under section 27 of the Leadership Code Act for breach of the Code
constituted by his conviction for forgery.
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JURISDICTION, SCOPE AND METHOD OF INVESTIGATIONS

The Cmbudsman has commenced this enquiry under Article 62(1) of the Constitution,
section 11 of the Ombudsman Act and section 34 of the Leadership Code Act. This
report is made so that sections 27 of the Leadership Code Act is upheld against
Mr Sope maautamate.

The purpose of this report is to present the findings of the Ombudsman as required by
the Canstitution, the Ombudsman Act and the Leadership Code Act.

The scope of this investigation is to establish whether Mr Barak Tame Sope
Maautamate, having been convicted of the criminal offence of forgery, is also liable for
additional prosecution for consequent breaches of the Leadership Code Act,

This Office collects information and documents by informal request, summons, letters,
interviews ,research and responses to working papers both by letters and court
decisions.

RELEVANT LAWS, REGULATIONS AND RULES
(See Appendix F)

OUTLINE OF EVENTS

On 19 July 2002, Mr Barak Tame Sope Maautamate was sentenced to three (3) years
jail for two counts of forgery under the Penal Code Judge Coventry stated on pages 18
& 19 of Criminal Case No.10 of 2002 that:

“You have been convicted on two charges of forgery. In deciding upon sentence the
Court is aware of section 3 of Cap 174 [Members of Parliament (Vacation of Seats)
Act] However, at the heart of this is an enormous breach of trust placed in you by the
people of Vanuatu. In my judgment, the correct sentence is one of three years
imprisonment concurrent upon each count. | have considered whether it should be
suspended. In all the circumstances it cannot.

On 13 November 2002, His Excellency the President of the Republic of Vanuatu,
Fr John Bani, pardoned Mr Barak Tame Sope Maautamate of the offences (sic) for
which he was convicted. This pardon was made in accordance with Article 38 of the
Constitution.

Mr. Barak Tame Sope Maautamate later filed a claim in court seeking the court to
deciare that by virtue of the legal effect of the presidential pardon he still remains a duly
elected member of Parliament,

On 13 February 2003, the Supreme Court of Vanuatu ruled that the Presidential pardon
on 13 November 2002 was only for the un-served period of the three years sentence.
Chief Justice, Vincent Lunabek stated on page 8 of Civil Case No. 199 of 2002 that:

“It is important to understand that the Presidential pardon cannot override nor
stay the operation of an Act of Parliament, unless the Constitution as the
supreme law expressly so provides to this effect.
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The pardon does not have a retroactive effect. [t pardons the penalty of
conviction from the time it is granted. The pardon does not remove the conviction.
The plaintiff was convicted and was sentenced to three years imprisonment. He
served his imprisonment sentence from 19 July 2002 to 12 November 2002. He
was, then, pardoned on 13 November 2002. It is the un-served period of the
three years sentence, at the time of the pardon, which has been pardoned.
If the submission of the plaintiff stands, then, it will be dangerous because it will
create a legal fiction. The conviction still stands and the President has no power
fo set it aside. The effect of pardon is to make the plaintiff, a new man and to
give him a new credit from the date the pardon was granted. The pardon does
nat have retrospective effect of undoing what was done. The pardon does not
mean acquittal.”

(See detailed of the court decisions in Annex B).

Qn 8 May 2003, Vanuatu Court of appeal in a Civil Appeal case No. 04 of 2003
reviewed the decision of the Supreme Court in Civil case No. 189 of 2002.

QOn 9 May 2003, the Court of Appeal ruled that the Supreme Court was correct o
refuse the declarations sought by Mr Barak Tame Sope. The Court of Appeal
dismissed the appeal by Mr Barak Tame Sope (See details of the court decision in
Annex C).

On 27 MNovermber 2003, Mr Barak Tame Sope was successfully elected back to
Parliament during the by — election conducted for the parliamentary seat he vacated
due to his conviction and sentence.

On 29 January 2004, the Ombudsman issued a Working Paper on the report. This was
done after the first Working Paper was issued on 3 December 2002. The reasons for
this is that additional documents were included after the first Working Faper was
issued,

On 12 February 2004, Mr Sope’s legal representative responded to the second issue of
the Working Paper and stated that the report was unconstitutional (See details of this
in Annex D)

RESPONSE BY THOSE WITH COMPLAINT AGAINST THEM

The Ombudsman received a response dated 23 May 2003 from the Geoffrey Gee &
Partners, on behalf of Mr Barak Sope. Mr Sope in his reply stated that:

The Working Paper appeared vexatious. for the following reasons:

a) The matter has already been dealt with in the Criminal Courts resulting in
imprisonment and loss of a parliamentary seat.

b) It has previously been the subject of an Ombudsman’s Repart. | refer you to 5.19
of your Act. You are prohibited reuniting a previous enquiry or the reasons why
your recommendations weren't followed.

c) There are legal issues of double jeopardy given the conviction.

The letter went further to ask these guestions to the Ombudsman :

a) Are there any other similar sought of assertions being made.
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b) If so why are they being drip fed on a weekly basis. Couldn't we just face all of
them at once?

c) Is there pressure being exerted for political or other reasons by other persons or
parties or countries and if so who.

d) As to why does it have anything to do with the by election which is required

Finally the Ombudsman was referred to S.18(1) (b) and (d) of the Ombudsman Act and
particularly:-

1. Other remedies (Criminal Prosecution) have already been undertaken.

2. Delay — why weren't charges put before the Criminal Court at the same time. Several
vears later is a delay which is unwarranted.

Mr Barak Tame Sope through his legal counsel complained that the actions of office of
Ombudsman appeared to be personal and vexatious. and demanded [requirg] the
Ombudsman to confirm the report would not be published pursuant to S.34 of
Ombudsman Act.

Additional response from Mr Barak Tame Sope was through the legal firm of Geoffrey
Gee and Pariners in a constitutional application in March 2004 registered as civil case
49/2004.

MR SOPE'S SUBMISSIONS IN COURT

In the application Mr. Barak Tame Sope through his legal counsel was seeking the
court to declare that his canstitutional rights may be infringed if the Ombudsman
issues a report, He supported his application with the following submissions;

1. It was open to the Prosecutor to lay a charge under S. 27 at the time of the
tnial for forgery.

2.  The reports of the Ombudsman reguire the Public Prosecutor to issue charges
under the Leadership Code or to decide if there is sufficient evidence.

3. The reports contain an implied threat requiring the Prosecutor to proceed or
face further inquiry or public rebuke.

4.  The reports are nothing more and nothing less than an attempt to further
embarrass and ridicule Mr. Saope.

5. The demand for prosecution is unconstitutional, and does not accord equal
treatment to the applicant..

6. The demand for a further prosecution puts the applicant at risk of double
jecpardy.

7. The Ombudsman is conducting an enquiry on & matter that has previously
been the subject of an enquiry,



5.4 OMBUDSMAN SUBMISSIONS IN COURT
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In reply the Ombudsman submitted that:-

L

5.

The two reports relate to the same enquiry, which is not yet complete, and
copies of the documenis were provided to Mr. Sope in accordance with the
Ombudsman Act No. 27 of 1988,

It is premature for the Court to consider any infringement of Article 5 (2) (h) of
the Constitution and submissions as to whether the applicant could have been
charged and convicted at the same time as the forgery matters can be
considered only if and after the Public Prosecutor decides to prosecute the
applicant.

It is constitutionally proper for the Ombudsman to make recommendations at
the working paper stage.

The applicant is attempting to prevent the Ombudsman from performing his
duties and functions under the Constitution, the Ombudsman Act and the
Leadership Code Act,

The Ombudsman is not directing or controlling the Public Prosecutor,

THE PUBLIC PROSECUTOR'S SUBMISSIONS IN COURT

The Public Prosecutor chose to appear as a friend of the court [amicus curiae] and
made the following submissions:

1.

That a prosecution could take place against the applicant in breach of section
27 of the Leadership Code Act (No.2 of 1998) and that his right to protection of
the law as enshrined in Article 5 (1) (d) of the Constitution would not be
infringed if such a prosecution did occur.

Such a prosecution would not be for the same offence. The original
prosecution was for forgery under section 139 (1) of the Penal Code
[CAP.135] with completely different essential elements from any proposed
prasecution under Section 27 of the Leadership code Act.

A section 27 conviction could not have been entered at the time of the first
conviction. It is a condition precedent to a prosecution under section 27 that
the claimant has been convicted by a Court of an offence under the Penal
Code Act, and such a conviction could not be entered until the conclusion of
the first trial.

A section 27 prosecution would not infringe the applicant’s right to equal
treatment under the law or administrative action.

The working papers do not infringe the independence of the Public Prosecutor
as enshrined in Article 55 of the Constitution.

The Prosecutor went on to submit that the Ombudsman has the responsibility under
Ombudsman Act to investigate and report on the conduct of a leader (other than the
President) if the Ombudsman has formed the view on reasonable grounds that a
leader may have hreached the code. The Ombudsman is then required o give a
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copy of such a repart to the Public Prosecutor and must follow the procedure set out
in the Ombudsman Act. There could not at this stage be a breach of Article 55 but,
in any event, the second recommendation does not seek to direct or control the
Public Prosecutor's functions but simply puts forward a recommendation for
consideration by the Public Prosecutor.

FINDINGS OF THE COURT

(@)

(b)

(c)

(el

(@)

(h)

(i)

While the court agreed that the applicant cannot be tried for the same offence
or far any other offence which he could have been convicted of at his trial the
court is of the view that a section 27 prosecution is not the same offence nor is
it “any offence of which he could have been convicted of at his trial” in terms of
article 5 [2] [h] of the Constitution;

As such the Court was also satisfied that there has not been nor is there likely
to be any infringement of the applicant's right to equal treatment under the law
or administrative action by virtue of his pesition as a member of Parliament, or
his former position as Prime Minister.

On the independence of Public Prosecutor, the Court is of the view that the
working paper does not infringe such independence as enshrined in Article 55
of the Constitution.

The Court agreed that there cannot yet be any breach of Article 55 and there
is no indication that there is any intention expressed as tc how the Public
Prosecutor's function ought to be exercised.

The Court found that the Ombudsman is not conducting a fresh enquiry on a
matter previocusly undertaken in breach of Section 19 (1) of the Ombudsman
Act, The investigation is clearly an ongoing one. That is made perfectly clear
because the same file number, 1185, has been used and even though the
enclosures in the second working paper had just become available when the
first working paper was sent to the applicant, the Ombudsman has not closed
his file and has never published a report or recommendation under Section 33
and 34 of the Ombudsman Act.

The Court was satisfied that the second Working Paper was effectively a re-
issue of the first when further information, namely the High Court and Court of
Appeal decisions, were included and have been considered by the
Ombudsman. There was simply a reformulation of the recommendation in
the light of subsequent events and a further draft of the same warking paper.

The court could not find anything sinister in the timing of the issue of the
working a paper that showed something of a vendetia against the applicant
and the Ombudsman is not attempting to embarrass and ridicule Sope as he
is carrying out his statutary functions.

The court found that the applicant’'s application was not premature as it falls
within the wordings of Article 5 [2] [h] which states any person who feels his
rights is likely to be infringed may apply to the court to enforce that right

The court concluded that none of the grounds raised in the constitutional
application filed by Mr, Sope have succeeded and dismissed the matter
accordingly.



DISCUSSIONS OF THE COURT ON DIFFERENT ISSUES SUBMITTED BY
PARTIES

“ROLE OF OMBUDSMAN"
Section 34 of the Leadership Code Act No. 2 of 1998 provides as follows:

1) The Ombudsman must investigate and report on the conduct of a leader (other
than the President):

a) if the Ombudsman receives a complaint from a person that a leader has
breached this code;
or

b) if the Ombudsman has formed the view on reasonable grounds that a
leader may have breached this Code.

2} The Ombudsman must give a copy of the report to the Public Prosecutor and
where, in the opinion of the Ombudsman, the complaint involves criminal
misconduct, to the Commissioner of Police within 14 days after forwarding his or
her findings to the Prime Minister under Article 62 (2) of the Constitution,

3) Where an Act provided for the functions, duties, and powers of the Ombudsman,
the pravisions of that Act will apply when the Ombudsman is carrying out an
investigation under this Act.

4) Notwithstanding subsection (3), for the purpose of fulfiling any function or duty
lawfully conferred or imposed on the Ombudsman under this Act, the
Cmbudsman:

a) Shall have full access at all convenient times to Government contracts,
documents, books, accounts and any other material that relates to and is
relevant to the investigation; and

b) May, by notice in writing signed by the Ombudsman require any person
having possession or control of any Government contract, documents,
books, accounts or any other material that relates to and is relevant to the
investigation to deliver such document or documents to the Ombudsman
at such time and place as is specified in the notice; and

c) May cause exitracts to be taken fram any Government contract,
documents, books., accounts or any other material that relates to and is
relevant to the inquiry without paying any fee therefore.

5) Where a person fails to comply with a notice or any other requirement under
subsection (4) the Ombudsman may apply to the Supreme Court for an
order requiring that person to do so.

(8) Where the complaint is against the Ombudsman the investigation will be
carried out by the Attorney-General in accordance with the procedure set
out in this part as if the attorney-General were vested with all the functions,
duties discretions and powers of the Ombudsman.”

10



Even under S. 11 (2) (b) of the Ombudsman Act No. 27 of 1988 and Article 62 (1) (¢) of
the Constitution, the Ombudsman can exercise his functions on his own initiative. [n this
case the Ombudsman has elected to initiate the report on the applicant and his conduct
and is in the process of carrying out an enquiry but has not yet made public the result of
such enguiry under 8. 34 (1) of the Ombudsman Act.

ROLES OF PUBLIC PROSECUTOR

The function of prosecution shall vest in the Public Prosecutor, who shall be
appointed by the President of the Republic on the advice of the Judicial Service
Commission. He shall not be subject to the direction or control of any other
person ar body in the exercise of his functions.”

The recommendation as formulated in the report is merely that, a recommendation, and
that is not, as the claimant would have it, a directive or a requirement for the Puhlic
Prosecutor to issue charges under the Leadership Code Act were the report published in
those terms. The independence and integrity of the Public Prosecutor is preserved, and |
cannot find that there is any direction or control contained in the working papers of the
Ombudsman to curtail the exercise of the Public Prosecutor's functions or discretion. A
copy of the working paper was referred to the Public Prosecutor on 29 January 2004 and
he quite rightly declined to comment. In addition the Public Prosecutor cannot issue a
prosecution under the Leadership Code Act without a recommendation from the
Ombudsman.

There is certainly no implied threat or suggestion that the Public Prosecutor would face
further inquiry or public rebuke should he not exercise his discretion in favour of a
prosecution under section 27,

Equally, | cannot find in either report that there is anything which would indicate that the
Ombudsman is attempting to embarrass and ridicule Mr. Sope. The Ombudsman is
simply carrying out his statutory functions. | do not find that there is anything sinister in
the timing of the issue of the working papers that shows something of a vendetia against
the applicant.

The Court also discussed “double jeopardy” and caoncluded that in Mr Sope's case the
glements to be proved and the evidence reguired for each prosecution in these
circumstances are completely different.

The Court went on ta distinguish between a forgery prosecution as are set out in Section
139 (1) of the Penal Code as being:

(a) the making of a false document,

(b} knowledge of the falsely of the document; and

{c) an intention that the document be used or acted upon as genuine or that some
person be induced by the belief that it is genuine te do or refrain from doing
anything.

For prosecution under Section 27 of the Leadership Code Act, the elements to prove are:
(a) that the defendant is a leader; and

(b} that the defendant has been convicted by the Court of an Offence under the
Penal Code Act as listed in Section 27(2).

11



The Court concluded that in their view a Section 27 Prosecution is not the same

offence nor is it any other offence of which he could have been convicted at his
trial in terms of Article 5(2)(h) of the Constitution.

The Court cited a decision of the Court in Pearce v R (18598) 194 CLR 810 that
said this:-

“The expression “double jecpardy” is not always used with a
single meaning. Sometimes it is used to encompass what is
said to be a wider principle thal "no one should be punished
again for the same matter”. Further, “double jecpardy” is an
expression that Is employed in relation fo several different
stages of the criminal justice process: prosecution, conviction
and punishment.”

| consider that it would be wrong for this Court to rule that that process should be
curtailed and | do not find that the applicant's constitutional rights under Article 5 (1) (d),
(k) or 5 {2) (h) have been infringed.

Refer to Annex D far full and detailed decision of the court.

6. FINDINGS

6.1 Finding 1: The Ombudsman found that Mr. Sope has committed a prima
facie breach of section 27(1)(b) of the Leadership Code Act and
is liable to receive additional punishment under sections 41 and
42 of the Leadership Code.

The Ombudsman has found that according to section 27 (1) (b) of the Leadership Code
Act, Mr Sope is liable to be dealt with in accordance with sections 41 and 42 of the
Code in addition to any other punishment that may be imposed under any other Act. In
this case. the punishment referred to was the three years conviction that was imposed
under the Penal Code Act,

12



7. RECOMMENDATIONS
The Ombudsman recommends that:

Recommendation 1: The Public Prosecutor must decide within 3 months of receiving
this report, whether there are sufficient grounds or evidence to
support a prosecution under this Code.

Recommendation 2: The Public Prosecutor commence a prosecution against
Mr Sope under sections 27 of the Leadership Code Act for
breach of the Leadership Code Act constituted by his conviction
for forgery.

Dated the 3rd day of August 2004.

’.-'
Hannington G. ALATOA
OMBUDSMAN OF THE REPUBLIC OF VANUATU

13
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INDEX OF APPENDICES

Copy of judgment in Criminal Case No. 10, dated 19 July 2002,
Copy of judgment in Civil Case No. 199, dated 13 February 2003.
Copy of judgment in Civil Appeal Case No. 04, dated 9 May 2003.
Copy of judgment in Civil Case No. 49 of 2004 dated 26 July 2004

Relevant laws
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with a stated beneficiary Vanuatu Investment Corporation
Limited (VICL) (document SFO 1260/1868)

Count 2. Forgery — Contrary to sections 139 and 140 of the Penal Code,
Cap 135.

PARTICULARS OF OFFENCE

BARAK TAME SOPE MAAUTAMATE at Port Vila Vanuatu
did between 8 January 2001 and 12 March 2001 forge a
Government Guarantee Number VIC 011/2000/07 in the sum of
USD 18 million with a stated beneficiary Dynamic Growth
Management Projects PTY Ltd (document SFO 1260/1866)

Section 139 (1) Penal Code states:-

1. Forgery is making a false document, knowing it to be false, with the intent
that it shall in any way be used or acted upon as genuine, whether within
the Republic or not, or that some person shall be induced by the belief
that it is genuine to do or refrain from doing anything, whether within the
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AUTHORITY FOR THE GIVING BY THE STATE OF GUARANTEES

AND INDEMNITIES.

59.  Except as expressly authorised under this Act, it is not lawful for a
person o give a guarantee or mdemmry that imposes an acma! or a
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must provide an assessment of the risks associated with the guarantee or
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3. Where a guarantee or indemnity is required as security for the raising of
a loan under section 54 the Minister is not required to obtain the
approval of Parliament but must in the report to Parliament under section
54 (2) (h) include the full details of the guarantee or indemnity and
reasons why it was necessary in the public inferest.

4. Any money paid by the State pursuant to a guarantee or indemnity given
under this section will constitute a debt due to the State from the person,
organisation, or Government agency in respect of whom the guarantee or
indemnity was given, and may be recoverable as such in any Court of
competent jurisdiction.

The prosecution says the Minister (by section 2 that means the “Minister from
time to time responsible for Finance™) had not signed the two guarantees.
Further, there was no prior approval of Parliament, no consultation with the
Director- General and no assessment as to whether such guarantees were
consistent with the fiscal responsibility provisions of the Act, (Section 60 (1)).
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| Whilst there is no direct evidence of personal gain to the defendant the
prosecution say the defendant was making attempts to trade them. To this end
! he sent a number of letters containing false information. The prosecution says

this was not a well meaning or naive course of conduct it was done knowing it
was wrong.
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e T he defendant sai hlS ﬁrst pohncal adwser Bakoa Kaltongga, put a paper
* before the Devyelopr ent Committee of Officials, THat was approved and passed
" to the Council of Ministers, (CoM). The Cnuncﬂ of Ministers approved the
_ paper. That paper empowered or qul.lll'ﬂd the ane Minister and Minister of
- Finance to seek to an-ange for ﬁle urgent provision Tf funds |
The defendant, as ane Minister, was able to negonate thc CDC loan down
from USS 5 mllhcm to US$ 3 million. A special envoy was appointed, Eddy
Galea, the Vanuatu Invcstmcnt Corporation Limited (VICL) was created, Galea
and Kaltongga were directors, and loan funds were being procured. To assist in
this the US$ 5 million guarantee was made out to YICL and the US 18 million
to Dynamic Growth Management Projects Pty Ltd.
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The defendant rejected the suggestion he was defying the PFEMA. He said it
was accepted practice to have all the documents, the “package” in place and
signed before going to Parliament. Without that, Parliament would simply not
consider the package. He stated the Minister of Finance had authorised his
signing of the guarantees, the Minister being in effect the Director-General’s
superior. Given the financial pressures on the Government, the guarantecs
would be consistent with fiscal responsibility. Further, in closing, his advocate
asserted that where the guarantee was security for a loan prior Parliamentary
approval was not required (Section 60 (3)).

The trial and the prosecution and defence cases had proceeded on the basis that
Parliamentary approval was required. This does not make a difference in view
of my findings of fact.

The defence asserts the State Law Office was aware of what was happening
and indeed there were supporting documents and actions. The defendant
asserted that all other actions he took were to get the funds either into Vanuatu
or readily available and to get the packages fully prepared for geverﬁm_entand
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Parliamentary acceptance. Instructions had gone out that the guarantees were to
be kept safe and not released until all the transactions were signed up and
Parliamentary approval given.

That, in essence, is thc prusecqtlon and defence cass | i

. : ). |

... Thisa cnmmal pr cut}cm" I{ ;s for the pmsecunulp to prmfF their case a.nd to
2 _do SO beyondllgeasn blc doub‘p yﬂnmg short of t]iat wﬂl not suffice to found

s He has raised a

';There are two. cou ts;_.I_must nccessanly consmltr each cparatc]y a.nd not
‘assume that q parhpul&r verdlct upcm cmc mcans [the same verdict upon the
- other. I can lnok at the ‘;otal;ty of thc ewdeqcc w en, considering each count.

ﬂnportant pc}mts there 'was llttle chal]enge to the prosccutlon

evidence, The e'ndencc of Paul Westwood, a ‘Handwntmg and Questioned
"Document Examlner was accepied Where the defendant’s signature appears
on pertinent dncumcnts it was accepted as hemg his.

The collection and assernbly {)f the documents was acccptad ‘A chronology was
placed before the Court. Objectlon was taken to certain paragraphs. As a result
of these objections [ ruled as follows. |

Paragraphs 1- 8 were only admissible so far as going to shew the defendant was
aware of Government Guarantees and how they are traded. The prosecution
only relied on what was extracted. I have specifically not read the
Ombudsman’s reports. I only look at paragraph 1-8 in so far as the points
raised above are concerned. I specifically disregard those parts of paragraphs 1-
8 that go beyond this. I have disregarded paragraph 16 and its attendant table
and documents. Similarly [ have disregarded paragraph 18. Paragraphs 31-39
were not disregarded, but accepted on the basis of the dealing with the US$ 5
million dollar guarantee and its attendant US$ 2.4 million loan. Paragraphs 92
to 96 are disregarded.

The fact a paragraph of the chronology has not been disregarded does not mean
I have accepted its contents, The ‘Chronology’ is no more than an extraction of
matters appearing on documents and prosecution comment thereon. In forming
my conclusions in this judgment [ have acted upon the documents themselves
and accompanying evidence.

David Osborne is a senior forensic accountant and works for the Serious Fraud
Office of New Zealand, He prepared the Chronology and described the
guarantees as very valuable documents. He stated VICL would have use of the
$ 5 million guarantee for a year and Dynamic Growth M}nﬂgemEnt PI:O]E&
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. _approachcd 50 thcy could usc pressure to conyince their bank 'St Gcor%e s, to

* At
Pty Ltd have use of the § 18 million guarantee for ten years. He said such
documents are generally not market place documents and traded. They are
sought after by fraudsters to obtain money from individuals. T point out that
this, of course, does not mean in itself these particular guarantees were signed,
or used fraudulently. He said such documents are secure and have a high
credibility. He said the $5 rmllmn guarantee was made available as security for

a $ 2.4 million loan. He was unsure if the $ 18 mlllmn guarantee had been
pledged as secunty ‘He sald ‘[he documents suggested an intention it was to be

- used as secunty for ‘a loan fmm the Landesbank{ of Germany. He descnbed the
-« SWIFT system and its imporfanee in lending credibility to transactions and

communications. He said an ] roach to Banqqe of Hawaij was reﬁ.lsed The
"doeumer}E She"hﬁm% l} iRebertslon sg}ke;uers in Austmha were. then__

‘lend werght and| legmrnaey to the prl-:}posed

O R 1y ek O e '--:,':-s:_4"i;;:.-;‘,u'; o i i } i i
In cross-examination he was referred to''the last sentence of paragraph two of

document 171, which stated “ Mc Cullough Robertson has advised that the
originals of the two sovereign guarantees are in safe custody with a Brishane
Bank and will not be released for trade wHi;our the authan!y of the
Government of the Repubhc of Vanuatu”, That was a letter dated 10"™ August
2001 from the Australian Attomey-General’s Department It is not possible to
say when that non- release eondmen was unposed ncr why or by whem

There was no ehallenge in cross- exammatmn Mr Osborne agreed there was
nothing in any document suggesting any personal beneﬁt to the defendant.

I accept the evidence of Mr, Osborne. I also accept the evidence of Mr.
Hosking and Mr. Thompson. Their statements were read, they dealt with the
seizure of documents and there was no challenge.

Hamlison Bulu gave evidence. He is the Attorney General and held that office
at the time of these events. He had no knowledge of the two guarantees until
after the new government was established in April 2001. He was not aware of
either going to Parliament. He was not aware of document 196. He had not had
discussions about it, nor had it gone to Parliament.

Document 196 was the original document 2. It contained an error in the date on
the last line of paragraph 1. Document 2 corrected that error.

He said he received document 171. He was anxious to retrieve documents on
behalf of the Government. The first line of a letter dated 26"™ January 2001,
signed by the defendant and the then Minister of Finance Morkin Stevens and
addressed to Banque Hawaii stated * The Government has finalised
negotiations for USD$§ 80,000,000 to be deposited into your ac*rmm:-.-Mr——
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Bulu said he was unaware of any such negotiations. He would expect to know
of that.

In cross-examination he described the Development Commlttee of Officials
(DCO). It conswtcd of Directors- General and at the nmc in question the

- Attorney- General cu%' his representanve If a Govemmem ‘loan was proposed it

‘would go first to the DCO and then to the Council of Mmlsters He believed the
é’al was aware of the DCO decision Pf i Jutﬁ 2000 to work on

: necgssary"legal amcwork for VICL (paragraph 2 docu ent 1354) It was

- Buly there was 4 DCO dncument instructing the pnFne mlmster to look at ways

- of raising finance to assist ‘the country, He was only aware of decision 444
i (dncument 1123). 11: was suggasted he was at the mectmg and’ expressed

concern. Mr. Bulu asked when the meeting was, He denied his office was
involved in the destructlon of any documents after the change of government.
He denied lcnowledge of a similar document gomg to the Council of Ministers

© as went to the DCO. He could not recall a separate paper to document 135 6.

Mr Bulu accepted |there were gencral l:hscussmns ‘about the pressure to raise
money and the Belmol debt, He said he was unaware of any documents being
destroyed or not dmc}osed He said he had met Eddy Galea outside the Prime
Minister office, never inside, or in the presence of Mr. -Kaltongga. He
understood Mr. Galea was in Vanuatu about VICL. He was nol aware Mr.
Galea had been appointed special envoy.

He agreed when loans arc set up a package is put together and then taken to
Parliament for approval.

Defence Documents 1 and 2 (DD1 and 2 ) were put to him. He belicved they
were done prior to the coming into effect of the PFEMA.

He believed there might have been a letter from Mr. Downing about leans. If

there was there would be a copy. There may have been discussions about the
Government issuing guarantccs to raise money. He said the CoM keeps
records, if there was discussion it would be recorded.

The defendant’s counsel stated certain documents had not been provided to the

~defendant. No specific written demand had been made for them, a general
request for all written statements and documents had been made on 20"
November 2001, Mr. Wiltens replied that everything seen had been disclosed.

—— 3 _ i g i ‘_.'._.-.-.:. 1 -.

I‘._He was not syre, if the Statc Law Ofﬁcc advlsorl Dawnmg had sent a letter
'to'thc qufeudqqt anc MI I{altongga statmg how to go about issuing a bond or g =
guarantce If the advyice was sought it would have been gwen It was put to Mr.
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Ovemnight Mr, Bulu was requested to seek any further documents. Next
morning he stated the Bill set out in DD 2 had been passed. He had the Official
; Gazette. He believed DD2 would have been drafted by State Law Office. He
' had found one document of Mr. Downing, a letter of 6 December 2000
addressed to Mr. Sope (document 1884) That re]ated to bonds.

T accept the ewdence c-f Mr. Bulu. He answered questlons fully and re]iﬁbly.

Sumbe Antas was the Director of Customs- and lsland Revenue from Oeteber
1999 to May 2002. In the absence of the Dlreeto_r General for -Finance he acted
% wio in that capacity. In ?.{]00 he acted ‘per]‘naps ﬁye'.ttmes”, each time for a period
s ef 1 /3»19.2 ﬂ?ﬁ&ﬁa ;H i;ggk; as ﬂ';e grr;e Was aware, of the prows:ons of

the PFEMA ;I parti cu lar segtmps i3 59 a;i @0;'—“ s acting D. G he had not seen
me'-'tﬁﬁ"”gﬁ ecs (# doey ents 1 aw_:] 2) ":_-_t[_f there had been a yote in
; Parhament he ‘wou d have knewn as there has to be consultation with the
Dtreeter General, He wes not aware of any such vote.- He had not heard of
VICL or DG MP. \ _ e

: s At that point the defendent s lewyer steted there was no objection to the
e R i W:tness referring to deeument 1074 en'the basis that *80 IIll]]an is a typing
b error for 18 million™, If there Was to be any suggestion of 80 then objection was

e 3 taken. Prosecution counsel stated the document had already been proved. I
s atach ruled that if the ‘80’ was a typing error for ‘18’ then it was admissible. If it was
. I - sought to contend it was 80, then the objection could be renewed. |

Mr. Antas said he had seen a copy of 1074 after April 2001. He was not aware
of any negotiations. He was not aware of “any negotiations, papers or anything
else” in relation to documents 1 and 2.

In cross-examination he agreed in 2000 he attended at DCO meetings. He
couldn’t remember how many. Jeffrey Wilfred was the Director General. He
had been away in December. He couldn’t remember for October and
November. Mr. Antas couldn’t remember if he attended DCO meetings in
October, November or December. He said “ I might have done... I'd have to
look at the records”,

I accept his evidence. He was not challenged on anything and was clearly
truthful and reliable.

Bulekone Livo, the Clerk to Parliament, gave evidence next. He has held that
position since 1983. As far as he was aware neither document 1 or 2 had been
mentioned in Parliament. There were no motions either. If there had been, as
clerk, he would be aware.

In cross-examination, he stated he did not attend DCO or Council of Ministers
meetings. Over the years he had seen loan agreements put through
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He agreed the Bill 1n DD2 was put through Parhament He agreed the Bill in
DD 2 was passed in Septembcr 1998 and that it purported to avoid PFEMA. He
agreed DD2 was the normal format over the last few years for passing loan
agreements. He could not remember debate in Parliament w1th questions being
asked of Mr. Sope He said it was posmble |

‘In IB-GXﬂmlnatlon e said there was no debate abﬁut dncupjents 1 and 2. To

the Court he s" id ._"L,EF hac; cl]neckf:d the rccoy%When he agreed ‘normal

- counsel’s 4q1.mstnm:1 he ‘meant “Only a two section Bﬂl and

i then 'annlcxurei ceqcemmg ‘the ‘activities”. He could not saly how common it
; '~W33 tﬂ ﬂclﬂdﬁ BEEM-A- mi _} SR e | 2 ‘ | '
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=47 ac:cept hjs'awdénce It was honest and reI:ab]c

Nadme Alatoa was aecrctary General to the Council of Mmtsters from August
1998 until .Tanuary 2001, and again to the present from May 2001. She is
responsible for the gf:nda al:ld records of the C(}uncﬂ of Ministers. She said a
record is kﬂp't of. a11 tsulutluns and agendas. |

She said document 1123 is a record nf decision 444 Document 1117 is an
example of a Pa per. tabled by a Minister. Last year she was told about
documents 1 ‘and 2. She searched through' the records for documents
concerning these gua.rantees She found none. She searched for the period
January to May 2001, many times.

In cruss-exammatmn she stated for a time Jimmy Andeng -was Secretary-
General to the Council of Ministers. He took her place in her absence. Between
January and May 2001 she didn’t attend meetings of the DCO. “ I guess Jimmy
Andeng did”. She said before January there were weekly DCO meetings on a
Wednesday afternoon. She had attended about 12, and if she couldn’t attend a
deputy would go. She would know of the agendas because she sent them to
members. Any resolution papers to go to the Council of Ministers she would
see. There were also minutes she would see. She could not recall if she was
present at DCO when it discussed the incorporation of VICL.

There was much discussion about the financial problems the country was
facing. She remembered discussions over Belmol,

She did recall the Prime Minister and Minister of Finance were asked to find
ways to raise funds to help with the finances of the country. There were
discussions in the DCO about giving the Prime Minister and Minister of
Finance a mandate to do that. There was concern in the Council of Ministers
that money was needed. It was put to her that the CoM asked the Prime
Minister and Minister of Finance to investigate ways to raise money. She
started to answer. “I think”, when document 1179 paragraph 2 was put to her as

an example of what was done. She replied it was a general, narsiqu‘fﬁcm\
W
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provision. She was not sure about a package proposal for the Prime Minister,
She said on her return Mr. Andeng had followed the same ‘procedures as she
had. In re-examination she stated decision 556 (document 1179) was a specific

proposal, not for general ﬁnanemg The Council ef Ministers did not resolve

anything like paragraph 2 concerning Government guarantees She saw nethmg

. to endorse Gevemment Gu arantees. | !
e | . f | |

4 I |

T accept the et,rtdenee of Nadme Alatea She haq a elear v1ew of her functmns
... and responstblltﬂest -_‘I ;n,ust gssmis als!e whether she was and | is rehable,
4 partqeulgrlyjm- the. akmg and_._}ceepmg of recerds and in her later seareh et‘ and ke

I

: i ' | | :
The fmal mmess fer the proseeutmn was Jefﬁ-ey Wllfred He was Dlreetor
General of the Ministry of Finance from 1998 to June 2{)02 He knew of
PFEMA and particularly sections 59 and 60. He was not aware of decumente 1
and 2. He could not remember if he was in Vanuatu at the time. They were not
~ discussed with him.| He said had he been shewn them he would not have said
they were consistent with the financial respons:blht‘y pmwsmns of the Act. He
explained why He |y euld have known if the},r had gone te Parliament. They
hadn’t. He was net aware > of the negettaﬁons re erred to in document 1074. He
would have been aware if there hed been He sat n the DCO not Council of
Minister. tfiu:r.u'antee| of 5 rmlhen and 18 mllhen were not ment:oned while he
] H was there. T ; : ]
|
In cross-examination he agreed Vanuatu was facing financial difficulties. There
was the Belmol debt and that was discussed in DCO. He agreed DCO was
asked to put to the Council of Ministers a proposal requesting the Prime
Minister and Minister of Finance to resolve the financial problems. “T thought
there was a paper. There was a paper on the Belmol matter”, Ie agreed he
saw the Council of Ministers decisions. It was put to him the Council of
Ministers asked the Prime Minister and Minister of Finance to put up a package
proposal for the Belmol matter. He replied ‘No, [ can’t remember’. It was put
there was a Council of Ministers decision giving general authority to the
Minister of Finance and Prime Minister to come up with a package prepared to
resolve the general financial problems. He replied “ No, I wasn’t aware . There
was one for Vanair, when the Prime Minister was given that responsibility”.

The prosecution closed its case. Counsel for the defendant then informed the
Court he would call three or four witnesses, the defendant, Bakoa Kaltongga,
Morkin Stevens and Jimmy Andeng. In the event Jimmy Andeng did not give
evidence. I do not draw any adverse conclusion against the defendant from that.
[ judge this case throughout on the evidence and exhibits before me.

I Wlll deal ﬁrst w1th the ev:denee of V[orkm Steven and Bakoa Kaltongga. I
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Morkin Stevens is an M.P and was Minister of Finance during the premiership

of the defendant. He stated he had “some knowledge of :he PFEMA, not too
much, basic background.”

- He sald he w s called by the Pume Mlmster :ahout szgnmg document 1 on

. behalf of the go'fpmmcnt He gald the defepdant told him it was drafted by the

' State Law Office. He ‘continued “if that is so, I'd let him .S'Ign on be}m._'f of the

' Government *I would authorise the Prrme Mzmster to 'sign it”. He said

L ¥4 concerning document 2 'did this the same way as the fi rst\! m nor quite sure i

ifI ;s.!,'yed a f,er;erwf I .s'xgned q !eﬂer qurharr.s'mg I dra' say yes if pa.i'.s'ed by a‘he i ica
0 i
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mstel;l of Fmancti T was required to
ttend ‘at_ Cc f isters, When asked if he had any recoilccnon of a
at Counil of Ministe

U _Councll of Mm;stm mcc‘pmg authonsmg gﬁara,ntecs Dl'.‘ securities  to be
inyestigated he rephed “I have reat'Iy Jorgotten”. He did not recall a meetmg

chaired by Mr. Sopa[ .

|
In cmss-examination he set out his educational and work background. He was
in Parliament when |bFEI‘«-fL"'.L was debated and took part in the debate. He had to
pay particular regard to that act after he became L'llmlster of Finance. He said
on 15 December hf.: was called by the Prime Mlmﬁter s first political advisor,
Mr. Kaltongga, concerning the signing of the guarantee. It was the first time
he’d heard of it. He thought the Director General of the Prime Mmtster s office

was also present.

He believed Rowan Downing, the State Law Office advisor was also there. The
Prime Minister “asked me whether he can sign the document on be}ra{f of the
Government. I had not seen it before”, He asked if it had been * ‘prepared by
the State Law Office and the Prime Minister replied yes. Then I was no longer
there. I think the document was signed the next day. There was a second
meeting Kaltongga was present. That's all [ can remember”. He thought his
authorisation was oral. When asked why he didn’t sign he rcphed ‘ Because it
was requested by the Prime Minister’s Office.” He said the “instrument was
new to me”, When asked if it was in the public interest to have the 5 million
guarantee, he agreed and he gave no consideration to section 60 (1) a of

PFEMA. He didn’t know if the Director General of Finance had been
consulted.

It was put to him “Did you approve just because he (Prime Minister) asked you
? He replied “why do you ask this question. I am not afraid of r}ze question. He
(PM) was senior than me and I said yes. He didn’t bully me." He said if the
document had came from solicitors in Australia, and not through State Law
Office he wouldn’t let Mr. Sope sign it. ( Mr. Sope in ewdencejad-sa:rd'th&t
was where the document had come from).
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seeing document 1505 before. He was vague or evaswe in answers.

He stated it was a mistake when he'd said earlier in his evidence that

documents 1 and 2 were signed at the same time.
! . |

In relation to documcnt 2 he was called ‘Fo thc anc Mmlster S nfﬁce and told

; itwasa Statc qu f’ﬁcc ducumcnt i Bt f

Q Dra‘ ycm cons: er ,n‘ ﬁnqncm{!y prudent for P’an uatuy.
- A NO ‘ LA . | |
: Sape s;gn because he wanred {
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-vha;‘ }1-’9“4'5 flappen thh the [‘wa documenrs

' He was told thl,"});_. wt:ré being used as security for loans. He was not aware that

the second guarantee had to be resigned. He said it was “possible” document
1074 was his letter. He was asked a number of other questions. He denied
|

1 find Morkin Steven is not a reliable w:tnesses He was the Minister of
Finance in the defendant s cabinet. He had little knowledga or experience of
fiscal matters. He hqd little apprec;atmn of the fl.mctmns and responsibilities of
being Minister of Fmance It was clear that, certamly in the matters before the
Court, he was little more than the defendant’s puppet When pressed on matters
it should have been straightforward to answer he reacted with anger.

I consider the evidence of Bakoa Kaltongga. He was first political advisor to
the Prime Minister. He described the financial pressure on the government and
the negotiations concerning the Belmol debt.

He recalled preparing a paper for the DCO on ways to sort out the financial
problems, It referred to securities, guarantees and bonds. He has looked
through the documents but cannot find it. He remembered secing written advice
from Mr. Downing at State Law Office but couldn’t recall if document 1884
was the letter. It was on the same lines. He presented his paper to the DCO.
The Attorney General was present and commented. There was a general
resolution to use guarantees to look for funding. He recalled a resolution of the
Council of Ministers that the Prime Minister’s Otfice, Minister of Finance and
State Law Office were to work on the problem before any specific project
about raising funds was to go through.

He was put in touch with Mr. Galea by the Prime Minister. He had a check
done on Mr. Galea and as a result he was prepared to deal with him. Galca
came up with ideas and details were sought to “package the deal”.

M ﬁWmmwwMaﬁwaw;.ﬂB?HF;
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Mr. Kaltongga was involved in the incorporation of VICL. Document 1354
was based on his paper and decision 444, dccument 1355, made by the Council
of Muusters i

Lt He had seen documcnt 1 bcforc it was mgncti The dottccl line and typed name
e e " were already on'it. He ‘'said Eddy Galea drafted it. After it 'was signed it was
iz + given to Galea. Oral and written mstructlons were gwen by the Prime Minister.
~ He could recall one spcmﬁc omt was. the document could not be activated
til 1t went t?ﬂrnugh the Cuuncﬂ of Mmlstcrs am|d Parhament

In cross- exammatmn‘ he agrccd he was a frlend of the defendant. He was
i appomted by the defendant to his position. It was suggested he had a selective
memory. He could not remember other recommendations in his DCO paper .
He had tried unsucc&lzssﬁlll}r to recover the documents.

’ . The defendant mtr{)duced him to Mr Galea. He denicd running VICL, or bemg
8 a dm:ctor only ben:Jg 1nvolvcd in it. Thc dcfcndant had said he was a director.
S He had not seen documents 1321, 1335 and 1336 before He said most or all of
e ! = . the VICL maetmgs were m the anc Mmlster s |nfﬁce
|

Mr. Kaltongga saw the Prune Mmlster sign document 1 and give it to Mr.
Galea. He said he saw the letter addressed to Galea that went with it. The
instructions did not apparently forbid the release of the guarantee until
Parliament or any other approval. He said the Prime Minister told him
document 196 was given to Eddy Galea. He was asked in detail about
compliance with section 60. His answers became vague and evasive. His
demeanour changed from one of calm self-assurance to agitated, and slightly

aggressive responding. On two or three occasions questions left him stuttering
to produce an answer.

I do not accept the evidence of Mr. Kaltongga. He could not remember details
which should have been simple, his whole demeanour changed when pertinent
questions were posed. I find he was a knowing assistant of the delendant in
these activities even if he did not know their full import. | specifically did not
believe him concerning his paper to the DCO.

I turn now to the evidence of the defendant. I assess his evidence in the same

way as the other witnesses, and not in any different way because he is the
defendant.

He gave a brief history of his career, He has been an M.P. since 1983. He was
Minister of Finance in 1996 prior to the PFEMA. He has held other minis{ét
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positions and been deputy Prime Minister. He took part in the debate on
PFEMA and said “ I am knowledgeable af its contents”

He produced DDI and 2. He stated the usual pmcedure was to put together all
documents required, for a loa,n, get them ;.ﬂgned then present | them to Parliament
for approval. He said if this wasn’t done it would _]'llSt be sent back. He mted

41 examples where t]:n has happened Ecat e i

M. Sope dc:scnb Ji ]‘.he ﬁ‘ anmal pressurcs on the Govemment and the
s J}:l ayment of the CDC loan f'or Belmol He was

e, 195?61!1‘6"l ice to Londtm 1am;i succeeded in reducmg the -

§ §0 $ j mﬂhcn% _’g’hcre Were pcgﬁtlgqcins with an Italian Gmup to

| Al

ﬁqd ﬂ snlutmmTher; Wastpressu:e fmm thc'Po| ice and|nthers demandmg
il ""money He went to hina and obtained the waiving of debts. Further grants not
=17 loans, were obtained. = ! | .

Mr, Sope agreed he mgned documents 1 and 2 and 196. He told Mr. Kaltongga
to speak to Eddie Galea and liaise closely with Mr Downing of the Attorn-::y
General’s Chambers. He received written advmc from Mr. Downing in

: document 1884 rela‘mg to bonds There ;avas another letter about guarantees.

A paper was prcparcd wh:ch went to tha DCO anld the Ccmncﬂ of Ministers.
Authorlty was given to him as Prime Minister and to the Minister of Finance to

“ look at letters of guarantee, look at securities and other means of raising
finance. That was in December/January”'. He said the DCO paper is not in the
documents. The resolution of the Council of Ministers gave the authority and
they were to work “closely with the Attorney General’s office and put together
something to come back to the Council of Ministers”.

Document 1179 is two decisions. Paragraph 2 was nothing to do with the first.
It was to deal with the financial situation.

Mr. Sope said he knew the requirements before a guarantee could issue. He
stated Jeffrey Wilfred was the Director General at the time of issue of the
guarantee. The package was still being prepared. He could not go to Parliament
without something to shew. He said the Minister of Finance and Allorney
General advised “get something in and we will go to Parliament. You have to
have a Bill as well ".

He stated he sought the approval of the Minister of Finance when he signed. He
thought there was a letter from the Minster of Finance authorising him to sign.
He thought the Minister was present each time. He said all non-personal

documents were left in the PM’s office when he ceased to be Prime Minister in
May 2001,
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He stated he told McCullough-Robertson that the ongmals of the guarantees

must not be given away without “the Government of Vanuatu saying it was OK
to use them. Docnm nt 1 7! pamgraph ..? last line that is the position”,

s P T

He agreed hle mgnature was on de-eurnent 1074 and that Mortkin Stevene
 signed. The figure ehould be 18 not 80 and ﬁnahaed should read ‘finalising

They are typmg ermrs _' :

'_.llo’ guarantees frnrn England to trade them. He said the then e
i+ Prime Mlmste asked him to do this. He said he didn’t know how guarantees A
' _' are traded He was try‘mg to get the guarantees back tn Vanuatu. &
Counsel for the defendant objected to cross—exammahon upon the
: Ombudsman’s reports The Court upheld the oh_]ectmn Document 1376
I s ¥ paragraph 1 was put fo the defendan‘; it was suggested this was so the
i Lo w707 guarantees eeuid be traded The defendant sald theT'e was an other letter, “not
} { # 5

; eft'en US$10 hi

thw one e “II daesr

i i . | s | | |
T e g SOP = aald VICL Was set up wﬂh the ad\nce and drafting of the Attomey
s i ‘General. Mr. Galea 'was appmnted special envoy(not roving ambassador). He

agreed he tabled doeument 1117 in the Council of Ministers but it was prepared
by the Director General

There was no reference to the Government providing financial assistance to
VICL. Mr. Sope said it wasn’t needed at the time. Mr. Galea was managing
director and Mr. Kaltongga a director. He did not agree Mr. Galea could be do
almost anything without reference to the Government.

Mr. Sope agreed he signed document 1 so VICL could get the loan for Belmol.
Lawyers McCullough Robertson had been appointed to represent the
Government. Mr. Sope agreed he wrote the letter of 22 March 2001 to them.
He agreed paragraph 4 document 35 was untrue. He said a letter had been sent
correcting it. The correction letter has not been found. Mr. Sope said he didn’t
know till later there was only 9,000 not 12,000 cattle on the ranch.

Paragraph 5 talked of the government having issued a sovereign guarantee for 5
million to be used at the discretion of Mr. Galea. He agreed it was correct that
is what 1s said. Mr. Sope accepted that by law a letter of guarantee can only be
given by the government.

Q. How can you say what is in paragraph 5, that the government issued a
Sovereign guaraniee?




He a j ed he kney
F;nance] wqq‘ggg bmﬂtq sign it and gaye hFun authunty He was there, .

a A'
A. Silence.
Q. Repeated
A. Silence
Q. Repeated
A. The government has. I signed the document. |

Mr. Sope said he had made 1t clear in vulfntmg to Mr Gralea that the guarantee
was not to be ]reieased_ Wt;.t__hou,t. approval. Neither that document nor any copy

he | p{unsmns of lSt:ctmn 60, He saad the Mlmstﬂl' of

ﬂ-'}_‘c_pem{

Q Did he ; grve yau a Ierrer af aue‘honw to szgn :r and then watcked you szgmng

= "A. Isrg?:edrr hewas there, izl |

i BESAR f i : |

In cross-examination ‘on ﬁlrther occasions Mr. Sope was ‘unable to answer
pertinent questmns' On' occasmn there were ilences, at other times bold
acceptance of acts. whlch m law shnu]d not havi taken place. In particular he
stated document 1| was draﬂeq by Galea. He was asked if the number
YIC/12/001200 had significance. He replied I dor: 't know”, It was put to him
it was made up. Thelanswer was ﬁilcnce.! :

0. It was put there to make it look authentic.

A. Idon't know.

I do not accept the evidence of Mr. Sope. He could not explain a wealth of facts
and statements he had made. On occasion he was reduced to silence. There was

no answer to the question put. His evidence was inconsistent with documents
he signed. :

His case depended upon a number of documents, none of which have been
found or produced. I accept documents will sometimes innocently get lost. In
this case a whole series of documents, all relating to these matters and which
should have been in different places have not been found. They exculpate the
defendant. No copies have been found. I do not believe they exist. Diligent
searches have been made to no avail. People one would expect to have at least
some recollection of events the defendant describes have none. -

The evidence shews that Mr. Sope restricted the knowledge of the existence of
the vital documents to as few people as possible, particularly in the
government. Indeed, on the evidence only Morkin Stevens and Bakoa
Kaltongga knew. Morkin Stevens did as he was told. Mr. Kaltongga acted as
Mr. Sope’s assistant. There was nc need whatever to do this, had these
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transactions been genuine or intended for nothing other than the best
arrangements possible to meet Yanuatu’s financial circumstances.

The eyidence shews that as soon as the guarantees were sent off Mr. Sope set
about getting them accepted as genuine and into a position to be traded. First of
all he tried the Banque of Hawaii, When that failed he tried elsewhere. It is

-~ clear he was in close and frequent contact with Mr. Galea. In the attempts to

get them accap’;ed and traded he issued letters contammg lies and he knew they

o were Jies, | arccept a Prime M;mstcr has documents prepared for him and might

e S1ET thcm with 111:tle more than a cursory check. These documents did not fall
As4sin that cgtegcry, ‘They. relqtcd to the very arrangements which wou!d help
- v alleyiate the seyere financial problems facing the cmrmtry s |

 The defcncc pnmanly was that there was no mens rea, The pmsecuhon
' asscrtt:d thcre was sufﬁclent fur a conwctlon if lt cculd be shewn the defendant
 knew the clucumcnrs fo be. fglse and he signed thcn} intending others to accept
- them as genume and act upon them Others did treat thcm as genuine and act

: wantmg to rehcve the ﬁnanmal Problems of the cnunt:ry, he ensured as far as

possible no release untll Parliament approved and when the packages were
ready he wauld go t(IJ Parliament ., He said he was prevented from doing this by
the fact negoha,t:ons were not completad other facfors and then the fall of his

govemment bhies ] b ,

A i g salitaane k| !

On the ewdence I reject th;s defen-:e It has been rebutted beyond reasonable
doubt. These were not well intentioned but misguided and unlawful acts. There
is no evidence of anS intent to seek Parliamentary or other statutorily required
approval or follow proper procedures at any time. There is no evidence of any
intent to seck Parliamentary approval before or after any package was
completed. There is nothing emanating from the defendant directing others to
keep the guarantees in the strictest safety until formal approvals were given.
Paragraph 2 of document 1179 is not a general mandate. Tt rclates only to
Decision 556.

Section 109 (2) Criminal Procedure Code states “when a person is charged with
an offence and facts are proved which reduce it to a lesser offence, he may be
convicted of the lesser offence although he was not charged with it”. This
section was mentioned by defence counsel in closing.

There are offences set out under section 64 PFEMA. In view of my findings I
do not need to address this issue.

I am satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that Mr. Sope did sign documents 1 and
2, and indeed dm,umcnt 196. Those documents were false. 'l”he numbers on
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SENTENCE | " A.

You have been convicted on two charges of forgery. Your advocate Mr.
Malcolm says you have given much to this country both before and after
Independence. You have been Prime Minister, deputy I’nme Minister and held
other mm1stenal posts. He says in other ways you have given much to the
mmmumty 1) kT < el ! ! I

il . -'_-.r:- i a':' ! b 1
}r-,-.a | i | | ' l
' 3 l‘ - £

i { % . |
S ltis a sad day for any counf,g/ when some one Wlth that record is convicted of
_forgery. Th:s 15 not lJust an Qrdmary casc of forgery You were Prime Mmlster

at the time, one of the htghest positions in the country. When a persnn is
elected as a Member of Parliament a trust is placed in that person. He or she
has the duty to work for the good of the country. The higher up in govcmment
a person goes the greater that trust. These forgenes were able to be camed out
as a result of the position you held. That is a gro s breach of trust, It brings
disgrace upan ym;rself and 1t brmgs dlsgraae upon the country as a whcu]e and
the people : .

J il T Jf in 3y Jihk | i ¥
I do not undcresumate the prcssures that were upon you as Prime Mlmstcr
However, I have rejected your defence as to why you did these acts. The
evidence cle_arly pninted in the up’posite qurcction. ‘

There is a suspicion that somewhcrc along the line gou would gain persunally
That somewhere there is a bank account with funds or ready to receive funds, I
do not and must not sentcnce on that basm | |

However, I am satisfied you wilfully disregardled an Act of Parliament
designed to prevent misuse of Sovereign guarantces. I have rejected the
suggestion these were well-intentioned but misguided acts. It is on this basis
that I must sentence.

In deciding upon sentence the Court is aware of section 3 of Cap 174
(Members of Parliament (Vacation of Seats) Act).

I take into account the fact you have a wife and family. It will be difficult for
them. I am informed you have no other income or assets beyond your
parliamentary salary and allowances. | treat you as a person with no previous
convictions. There can be no credit for a plea of guilty. The senlence is not
increased by reason of a full trial.

i ——

There must necessarily be a deterrent element to this sentence. O VANDTS
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However, at the heart of this is an enormous breach of the trust placed in you
by the people of Vanuatu. When I first started to examine sentence I
considered a term of 5-6 years. I take into account your age, your state of
health, the mitigation generally and the fact it will not be casy for you to serve

a sentence. |

g i {
In my ]udgement the ccmect sentence is one of (three years imprisonment
concurrent upon each count. I have considered whether it should be suspended.
In all the circumstances it cannot.

There will be no order for costs.

Informed of right of appeal.




‘8’
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF
THE REPUBLIC OF VANUATU
(Civil Jurisdiction)

CIVIL CASE No.199 OF 2002

BETWEEN: BARAK TAME SOPE MAUTAMATE
of Ifira Island, South Efate in the
Republic of Vanuatu.
Plaintiff

AND: THE SPEAKER OF PARLIAMENT,
Hon. Henry Taga TARIKAREA
C/- Parliament House, Port Vila in the
Republic of Vanuatu.
Defendant

Coram: Vincent LUNABEK, CJ

Mr. Kalkat Malaskelekele for the plaintiff
Messrs. M. B. Edwards and A. K. Loughman for the defendant

Date of Hearing: 4" February 2003.

Date of Judgment: 13" February 2003.

JUDGMENT

This is an Originating Summons of the plaintiff dated 12" December 2002 and
filed on 13" December 2002. The plaintiff in this action is Mr. Barak Tame
Sope Mautamate of the Island of Ifira, South Efate in the Republic of Vanuatu.
The defendant is the Speaker of Parliament, Hon. Henry Taga Tarikarea. In

this Summons, the plaintiff seeks for the following declarations:-

1. That the plaintiff still remains a duly elected Member of Parliament by
virtue of the legal effect of the Presidential pardon;

2. That the Speaker of Parliament forthwith permit the pla
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4 Other and further orders as the Court may deem fit.

At the outset, the facts are not in dispute. The plaintiff files an affidavit date 14
December 2002 in support of the Summons. The substantive parts of which
are struck out as irrelevant. The plaintiff was duly elected a Member of
Parliament on 2™ May 2002. He was convicted by the Supreme Court of
offences of forgery on 19" July 2002 and sentenced on the same date to a

term of 3 years imprisonment.

On 5" November 2002, the plaintiff filed Notice of Appeal and a Notice of
Motion to enlarge time to appeal against the sentence at the Court of Appeal
Registry in Port Vila.

On 13" November 2002, His Excellency tne President of the Republic
pursuant to Article 38 of the Constitution pardoned the plaintiff of the offences

(sic) for which he was convicted.

On 12" December 2002, the plaintiff by counsel filed this Originating
summons. On 13" December 2002, the plaintiffs counsel filed a notice of

appointment to hear the Originating Summons as a matter of urgency.

This Court sat and heard the application for urgency on 16" December 2002
and refused the application because there is no urgency shown by the
plaintiff. The matter was then set for hearing on 4" February 2003 at 9 a.m.

On 4 February 2003, the plaintiff asks the Court to determine three questions.

They are set out below:-

1 Doss the Presidential pardon granted to the plaintiff on 13" November
2002 completely pardon the plaintiff of his conviction and/or sentence
imposed by the Supreme Court on July 19", 20027

o gLfEEA%\

2. \What effect in law if any did the Presidential pardon haveg‘f e slons N
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of the Members of Parliament (vacation of seats) Wir {Gﬁﬁﬂ}ﬁ %&"ﬁ}’g;
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3. Given the Presidential pardon does Mr. Sope Mautamate still remain a
Member of Parliament or has his parliamentary seat become vacant under
the terms of [CAP.174]7

The defendant says that the only issue is:

Is the plaintiffs parliamentary seat restored by virtue of him being pardoned
by the President of the Republic of Vanuatu under Article 38 of the
Constitution?

Both parties agree that the critical question is for the Court to determine the
legal effect of the pardon and not whether the pardon was legally given.

Before me there is no dispute that the President had discretion to grant

pardon and there is no challenge to its validity.

The power of the President to pardon is provided under Article 38 of the
Constitution. | am asked to determine the legal effect of the presidential
pardon of 13 November 2002 in relation to the plaintiff and in particular
whether his parliamentary seat has become vacant under Section 3 of the
vacation of seats Act [CAP.174].

Before | can determine the legal effect of the presidential pardon under Article
38 of the Constitution, | must bear in mind that | am dealing with a
constitutional provision. | have to ascertain the clarity of that provision and its
meaning. The starting point of a construction and/or interpretation of a
provision of the Constitution is the Constitution itself. It is the supreme law of
Vanuatu. Where there is room for debate or it is possible that ambiguity exists
assistance may be gained from consideration of the cases of the
commonwealth or other jurisdictions. But any of that is in all circumstances
and at all time subject to the clear and unambiguous words of the Constitution
which is the supreme law. (See A.C. No.11 of 2001, A.C. Ncn,gcgf”z_;@%%@ig‘
5 eferﬁ&-&g mé'rhéf“._
Court). :}rgﬁgr_j—qfﬂ_ i N o

other Supreme Court decisions including CC No.124 of 1



Article 38 of the Constitution provides:
“The President of the Republic of Vanuatu may pardon, commute
or reduce a sentence imposed on a person convicted of an

offence. Parliament may provide for a commiitee to advise the

President in the exercise of this function”. (Emphasis added).

By Article 38, the President has authority to pardon a sentence imposed on a
person who is convicted of an offence. It is clear from this Article that, the
President has the power to pardon a sentence. Article 38 is silent on how and
from when or what is the starting point the pardon of a sentence comes in
force. It is also silent on whether the President has the authority to pardon a

conviction secured by a court against a person for the commission of an

offence.

Counsel for the plaintiff submitted that the legal effect of a Presidential
pardon, which is a constitutional instrument, must be absolute, otherwise the
power is rendered meaningless. Therefore, notwithstanding the time and date
of a pardon being granted, in Vanuatu usually after the conviclion of a person,
the legal effect of the pardon starts at the very time the conviction and/or
sentence was imposed on the convicted person. It is further submitted for the
plaintiff that although he was convicted and sentenced on 15 July 2002 and,
although the Presidential pardon was only granted on 13 November 2002, the
pardon, in arder to be absolute, or completely effective, was deemed to have
come into effect on 19 July 2002, i.e. it is effective ab initio.

The above submissions must be rejected for the following reasons.

The power of pardon under Article 38 cannot be read and interpreted in
isolation. It must be read and interpreted in conjunction with other provisions
of the Constitution in particular Articles 5 & 6 relating to duties and
jurisdictions or powers of the Supreme Court in the protection and
enforcement of fundamental rights of the people and Articles 47 (1), 49 (1)
and 50 in relation to the administration of justice which is vested in the

judiciary, the unlimited jurisdictions and/or powers of the Supreme Court in its



original and/ or first instance and appellate levels to hear and determine civil

and criminal proceedings as enshrined in the Constitution.

It follows that under Article 38, the President has no power to pardon a
conviction secured by the Court on a person for the commission of an offence.
The presidential pardon cannot make a conviction a nullity. What the pardon
does is to remove the penalty/sentence imposed by the Court.

The presidential power to pardon a sentence under Article 38 of the
Constitution, franslates the intention of the constitutional founding fathers that
the power of pardon which is the prerogative of mercy is different and must be
so from the prerogative of justice. It does not, therefore, embrace the
prerogative of justice. It follows, then, that only the Courts on appellate levels

can quash a conviction.

| am also assisted and supported by the submissions made on behalf of the
defendant's counsels and the persuasive authorities referred to and in
particular the English case of R. v. Foster (1984) 2 All ER 679. In Foster, the
English Court of Appeal held that the effects of a pardon is such as to remove
from the subject of punishment whatsoever that flow from the conviction, but
does not eliminate the conviction itself. | adopt and accept the decision of the
English Court of Appeal in Foster as, | think, there is room for debate on the
legal effect of the presidential pardon under Article 38 of the Constitution and
the principles of law applied in that case will assist this Court in its judgment in

the case at hand.

The plaintiffs further submission that the instrument of pardon starts to have
effect not from the date of the instrument but from the very date the sentence
had been imposed and in the present case, 19" July 2002, is also rejected.

Article 38 is silent on the point. The words of the instrument of pardon may be
instructive in interpreting the effect of the pardon and ascertatg\ga#rﬁﬁf‘aﬁ%k
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The instrument of pardon, granted by the President on 13 November 2002, to
pardon the plaintiff is set out below for ease of reference.

‘PARDON

WHERAS Article 38 of the Constitution provides inter alia, for the President of
the Republic of Vanuatu to Pardon a person convicted of an offence;

AND WHEREAS BARAK TAME SOPE was convicted and found guilty of
certain offences by the Supreme Court of the Republic of Vanuatu on 19 July,
2002 and sentenced to three years imprisonment.

AND WHEREAS | am of the opinion that the continued imprisonment of
BARAK TAME SOPE ma y be injurious to his health;

In the exercise of the power conferred on me by Article 38 of the Constitution
I, FATHER JOHN BENNETT BANI, President of the Republic of Vanuatu,
HEREBY PARDON BARAK TAME SOPE of the offences for which he was
convicted in the Supreme on 19 July 2002,

MADE at the State Office this 13 day of November, 2002.

FATHER JOHN BENNETT BANI
President of the Republic of Vanuatu” (Emphasis added).

The instrument of pardon is g constitutional instrument. It was dated 13
November 2002 and published on 14 November 2002 in an Extraordinary
Gazette No.9. In accordance with Section 16 of the Interpretation Act
[Cap.132], | take judicial notice of it.

| note that the ground of the pardon of the plaintiff in thﬁz_@_' i Hi
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| note further that the instrument does not show from when or the sfarting
point the pardon starts to have effect.

| note finally that the term of the instrument was inelegantly drafted, in|that it
purported to give to the President of the Republic a power io pardon Barak
Tame Sope of the offences for which he was convicted in the Supreme| Court
of Vanuatu on 19 July 2002. [Emphasis added]. This has the effect of
pardoning not only the offences but also the conviction of the plaintiff and it is
not possible as it is beyond the presidential power under Article 38. To save
the pardon instrument of its legality, it has to be read down to its constitutional
limit. To do that end, it is now read down to mean:-
“president of the Republic, Hereby Pardon the sentence imposed on
Barak Tame Sope by the Supreme Court of Vanuatu of the offences for
which he was convicted on 19 July 2002.”

As the date of the coming into effect of the constitutional instrument of pardon
is not expressly spelt out in the instrument itself, the date of its publication in
the Official Gazette must be taken to be the date the maker |of the
consiitutional instrument, here, the President intended the instrument tp come
into force, which is 14 November 2002.

The plaintiff submitted also by counsel that the pardon being a constjtutional
instrument, it overrides the effects of all other laws including the Penal Code
Act [CAP.136] and the Members of Parliament (Vacation of Seats) Act
[CAP.174].

These submissions must also fail and are rejected for the following reasons:-

First, it is not necessary to determine what effect the pardon has on the Penal

Code Act as there is no issue in this case with respect to that Act.

Second, a constitutional instrument is subject to the law unless expressly
provided for in the Constitution. The Constitution is the supremg law of
Vanuatu but that does not make every instrument issued under] powers

granted under it above the law. The Constitution being the supreme law




means that neither an Act of Parliament nor a decision of a Court can make
law inconsistent with it. It does not mean that anything done under the
Constitution overrides other laws in Vanuatu. This is also applicable to an act
or decision made by an authority exercising a power given fo it by the

Constitution such as, the Executive and the President of the Republic.

Third, the Members of Parliament (Vacation of Seats) Act [CAP.174] is a valid
law as it is not inconsistent with the Constitution. In this case, counsel for the
plaintiff does not challenge the constitutional validity of the Members of
Parliament (Vacation of Seats) Act [CAP.174] and in particular Section 3(1) of
the Act, Section 3(1) of the Act is a valid provision as conceded by counsel on
behalf of the plaintiff.

The plaintiffs counsel further submitted that Section 3 of the Members of
Parliament (Vacation of Seats) Act [CAP.174] was legally deemed to have
never come into play in the plaintiff's case because the plaintiff legally, did not
have 3 years sentence imprisonment (by virtue of the pardon). This argument
cannot stand and must fail.

It is important to understand that the Presidential pardon cannot override nor
stay the operation of an Act of Parliament, unless the Constitution as the

supreme law expressly so provides to this effect.

The pardon does not have a retroactive effect. It pardons the penalty of
conviction from the time it is granted. The pardon does not remove the
conviction. The plaintiff was convicted and was sentenced to three years
imprisonment. He served his imprisonment sentence from 19 July 2002 to 12
November 2002. He was, then, pardoned on 13 November 2002. It is the un-
served period of the three years sentence, at the time of the pardon, which
has been pardoned. If the submission of the plaintiff stands, then, it will be
dangerous because it will create a legal fiction. The conviction still stands and

the President has no power to set it aside. The effect of pardon is to make the

done. The pardon does not mean acquittal. \ ,}h\ PT;_;,...__
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Section 3 of the Members of Parliament (Vacation of Seats) Act [CAP.174]
provides:

“3.(1) If a member of Parliament is convicted of an offence and is sentenced
by a court to imprisonment for a term of not less than 2 years, hs shall
forthwith cease to perform his functions as a member of Parliament and

his seat shall become vacant at the expiration of 30 days thereafter:

Provided that the Speaker, or in his absence, the Deputy Speaker, may
at the request of the member from time to time extend that period for
further periods of 30 days to enable the member lo pursue any appeal
in respect of his conviction, or sentence, so however that extensions of
time exceeding in the aggregate 150 days shall not be granted without
the approval of Parliament signified by resolution.

(2) If at any time before the member vacates his seats his conviction is set
aside or a punishment other than imprisonment is substituted, his seat
in Parliament shall not become vacant as provided by subsection (1),

and he may again perform his functions as a member of Parliament.

(3) For the purpose of subsection (1) no account shall be taken of a
sentence of imprisonment imposed as an allernative to or in default of

the payment of, a fine.”

By perusing the language of section 3 of the Act, it is clear that the plaintiff
has lost his Parliamentary seat on 19 August 2002 by operation of that

section.

The fact that the plaintiff has lost his Parliamentary seat under Section 3(1) of
the Act, is not a penaltly of the conviction. The loss of the seat was merely a
consequence flowing from his conviction. The penalty imposed on the plaintiff
for his offence was three years imprisonment, not loss of hrsjq.ﬂmg%e%t‘g

seat. This follows from Section 3 of the member of ParhapﬁWﬁoW},_
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Finally, | accept the defendant's submissions ihat it was the fact of the
conviction and a sentence of imprisonment of not less than 2 years being
imposed that resulted in the plaintiff losing his seat. As Foster's case held the
conviction remains even though the plaintiff has been pardoned from serving

the remainder of his sentence.

The operation of subsection 3(1) of the Act is clear. If a member of Parliament
is convicted and sentenced to more than two years imprisonment then subject
to the proviso in subsection 3(1) and subsection 3(2) the loss of his or her
seat is automatic after 30 days. Neither the proviso in subsection 3(1) nor
subsection 3(2) applied in this case so the plaintiff automatically lost his seat
on 19 August 2002.

The proviso of subsection3(1) does not apply because no extension was ever
sought from the speaker. Nor was one granted.

Subsection 3(2) does not apply because neither the conviction nor the
sentence had been set aside within 30 days of his conviction. The plaintiff well
after the 30 days elapsed, has been pardoned. It is clear from the wording of
subsection 3(2) that if a member's seat has become vacant under subsection
3(1), then, even if his conviction or sentence is subsequently set aside, his

seat in Parliament is not restored.

The same must be the case with a Presidential pardon. As the pardon was
granted after the plaintiff had lost his seat in Parliament the granting of the
pardon cannot reinstate it. On the reasoning in Foster's case, the conviction
has not been set aside so even if it had been granted prior to the plaintiff's
seat being vacated, that alone would not have been sufficient for the seat not
to have been automatically vacated. If the pardon had been granted prior to
the vacating of his seat the court would have had to decide whether the

pardon amounted to the setting of aside of the sentence. This is not the case

could not be restored by the pardnn % \ e




The plaintiff as a result of his conviction and sentence automatically lost his
seat in Parliament on 19 August 2002. The pardon he was granted on 13
November 2002 did not re-instate his seat in Parliament. The Act does not
provide any mechanism for a member to have his or her seat restored once it
has been vacated under Section 3. Section 3 is self-executing and once a
seat has become vacant under it the seat cannot be restored. A member who
has lost his or her seat under Section 3 of the Act must be reelected to
Parliament if he or she wishes 1o take a seat in Parliament again. The effect of
conviction is the imprisonment. As a result of imprisonment for three years the

plaintiff lost his Parliamentary seat pursuant to Section 3 of the Act.

The declarations sought by the plaintiff are refused. The defendant is entitled
to the costs of the proceedings against the plaintiff.

My answers to the questions posed are as follows:

1. Answer to question 1:
No. The Presidential pardon is a full or complete pardon but anly from
the date of the pardon. The Presidential pardon granted to the plaintiff
on 13 November 2002 pardons the plaintiff of his un-served part of his
sentence which starts on 14 November 2002. The pardon has no
retroactive effect. There is no power to pardon the conviction of a
person under Article 38 of the Constitution.

2. Answer to question 2:
The way the question is framed is too general. It does not warrant a
specific answer. In the practical context of the present case, there is no
effect of the Presidential pardon on the provisions of the Members of
Parliament (Vacation of Seats) Act [CAP.174] as they relate to the
plaintiff. The plaintiff well after the 30 days elapsed, has been pardoned
on 14 November 2002, whereas Section 3(1) of the Act [GAP.1?4]

operates and affects the plaintiff by the loss of his parli
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No. The plaintiff does not remain a member of Parliament. The plaintiff
has lost his Parliamentary seat on 19 August 2002 by operation of
Section 3 of the Act [CAP.174]. His Parliamentary seat is not restored
by virtue of him being pardon by the President of the Republic of
Vanuatu under Article 38 of the Constitution.

The Court makes the following ORDERS:

1. THAT, the declaration sought in point 1 of the Summons is refused.
2, THAT, the declaration sought in point 2 of the Summons is refused.
3 THAT, the costs of the action are awarded in favour of the defendant

against the plaintiff and they are determined at 160,000 Vatu.

4. THAT, the plaintiff agrees to pay the total amount of 160,000 Vatu by

three (3) installments as set out below:-

(a)  the plaintiff shall pay the first installment of 50,000 Vatu by 28
February, 2003; and

(b) the plaintiff shall pay the second instaliment of 50,000 Vatu by
31 March, 2003; and

(c)  the plaintiff shall pay the third installment of 60,000 Vatu by 30
April, 2003.

DATED at PORT-VILA this 13" DAY of FEBRUARY 2003

BY THE COURT,
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IN THE COURT OF APPEAL OF

THE REPUBLIC OF VANUATU
{Appelfate Jurisdiction)

Civil Appeal Case No. 04 of 2003

BETWEEN: BARAK TAME SOPE MAAUTAMATE
Appellant

AND: THE SPEAKER OF PARLIAMENT, HON.
HENRI TAGA TARIKAREA

Respondent

Coram: Hon. Justice Robertson
Hon. Justice von Doussa
Hon. Justice Fatiaki
Hon. Justice Saksak

Counsels: Mr. S. R. Southwood QC and Mr. P, Keyzer for the appellant
Mr. M. B. Edwards and Mr. A. K. Loughman for the respondent

Hearing Date: 6™ May 2003
Judgment Date: 9" May 2003

JUDGMENT

This appeal concerns the legal effect of a pardon granted by His
Excellency the President of the Republic of Vanuatu under Article
38 of the Constitution.

On 19" July 2002 the appellant was a duly elected Member of
Parliament. That day he was convicted by the Supreme Court of
the offences of forgery and sentenced to a term of three years
imprisonment,

Section 3 of the Members of Parliament (Vacation of Seats) Act
[CAP. 174] provides:-

“3. (1) If a member of Parliament is convicled of an offence and is
sentenced by a court to imprisonment for a term of not less than
two (2) years, he shall forthwith cease to perform his functions
as a member of Parliament and his seal shall become vacant at
the expiration of thirty days thereafter.

Provided that the Speaker, or in his absence, fhe Depu!y
extend t.'?af period for further periods of 30 days fo enab.'? th‘é
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member fo pursue any appeal in respeci of his conviction, or
sentence, so however that extensions of time exceeding in the
aggregate 150 days shall not be granted without the approval of
Parliament signified by resolution.

(2) If at any time before the member vacates his seats his conviction
is set aside or a punishment other than imprisonment is
substituted, his seat in Parliament shall not become vacant as
provided by subsection (1), and he may again perform his
functions as a member of Parliament.

(3) For the purpose of subsection (1) no account shall be taken of a
sentence of imprisonment imposed as an alfernative to or in
default of the payment of, a fine." (Emphasis added)

The appellant made no request to the Speaker or the Deputy
Speaker to extend the 30 day period under s. 3 (1). Nor did any
event occur that attracted the operation of s. 3 (2). However on
13" November 2002 the President in exercise of powers under
Article 38 of the Constitution executed an instrument of pardon,
and that instrument was duly gazetted as a Constitutional Order
the following day: see s. 16 of the Interpretation Act [CAP. 132].
The Constitutional Order reads:-

"PARDON

WHEREAS Article 38 of the Constitution provides inter alia, for the
President of the Republic of Vanuatu to Pardon a person convicted of an
offence;

AND WHEREAS BARAK TAME SOPE was convicled and found guilty
of certain offences by the Supreme Court of the Republic of Vanualu on
19" July, 2002 and sentenced to three years imprisonment.

AND WHEREAS | am of the opinion that the continued imprisonment of
BARAK TAME SOPE may be injurious to his health;

In the exercise of the power conferred on me by Article 38 of the
Constitution I, FATHER JOHN BENNETT BANI, President of the
Republic of Vanuatu, HEREBY PARDON BARAK TAME SOPE of the
offences for which he was convicted in the Supreme Court on 19" July
2002.

MADE at the State Office this 13" day of November, 2002.
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Article 38 of the Constitution provides:-

“PRESIDENTIAL POWERS OF PARDON, COMMUTATION AND
REDUCTION OF SENTENCES

38. The President of the Republic may pardon, commute or reduce a
sentence imposed on a person convicted of an offence. Parliament
may provide for a commiftee to advise the President in the exercise
of this function.”

After the pardon was granted the appellant sought to resume his
seat as a duly elected Member of Parliament, contending that the
pardon had the effect of removing the cause of his disqualification
retrospectively from 19" July 2002 when the conviction and
sentence were imposed. The respondent, the Speaker of
Parliament, considered that the seat formerly held by the appellant
had become vacated at the expiration of 30 days after the
conviction and sentence had been recorded, and that the grant of
a pardon had not change that position. The appellant then
commenced proceedings by originating summons in the Supreme
Court seeking the following declarations:-

1. That the plaintiff still remains a duly elected Member of
Parliament by virtue of the legal effect of the Presidential
pardon,

2. That the Speaker of Parliament forthwith permit the
plaintiff to attend the current Parliament sittings.

The originating summons was heard by the learned Chief Justice
who ordered that the declarations sought be refused. The
appellant now appeals to this Court.

It was accepted by both parties in the presentation of their cases
before the Chief Justice that under Article 38 of the Constitution
the President has a discretion whether or not to grant the pardon,
and that in the present case that discretion had been validly
exercised. The only issues argued before the Chief Justice
concerned the construction of the Constitutional Order, and its
legal effect having regard to the provisions of s. 3 of the Members
of Parliament (Vacation of Seats) Act. There was no question
raised before the Chief Justice concerning the manner in which the
President went about exercising the power under Article 38.

e —

The learned Chief Justice in the course of his reasons for judgmentic o Y447\
held that on the proper interpretation of Article 38, the Presidi o
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had no power to pardon a conviction so as to remove it from the
record, or otherwise render it a nullity. His Lordship held that a
pardon granted under Article 38 had the effect, prospectively from
the time of the grant, of removing the penalty imposed by the Court
and all the consequences that flow from the penalty, but no more.
It did not remove the conviction. His Lordship held that under the
Constitution only a Court exercising appellate jurisdiction had the
power to set aside or quash a conviction. Accordingly it was
necessary to read down the Constitutional Order in this case to be
within power. Even though the Constitutional Order by its terms
purported to grant a pardon for the “offence” it had the effect of
granting a pardon in respect only of the punishment of
imprisonment and its consequences.

The Chief Justice rejected an argument that because the pardon
was a Constitutional Order it overrode all the other laws of the
Republic of Vanuatu, including s. 3 of the Members of Parliament
(Vacation of Seats) Act. His Lordship held that a Constitutional
Order is subject to the law unless the Constitution expressly
provides to the contrary. In our opinion the Chief Justice was
plainly correct to so hold, and the contrary has not been argued
before this Court. However, as appears below, the appellant
contends that s. 3 of the Members of Parliament (Vacation of
Seats) Act must be read down to accommodate the grant of a
pardon under Article 38.

The Chief Justice held that by operation of s. 3, at the expiration of
30 days after the conviction and sentence, that is on 19" August
2002, the appellant’'s seat was automatically vacated. As the
pardon was granted after the appellant had lost his seat, the
pardon could not have the effect to restoring him to it.

In oral argument before this Court, the appellant accepted that a
pardon granted under Article 38 is not the equivalent of an
acquittal but merely relieves the convicted person from the
consequences of the conviction. This is the common law position
which flowed from the exercise of the Royal prerogative of mercy:
see R. v. Cosgrove [1949] Tas SR 99, Re Royal Commission on
Thomas Case [1980] 1 NZLR 602, R. v. Foster [1984] 2 All ER
678, and Kelleher v. Parole Board of New South Wales [1984] 156
CLR 364. In the Republic of Vanuatu, however, the Constitution is
the supreme law (Article 2 of the Constitution), and the effect of a
pardon granted under Article 38 must be determined by a.
consideration of the Constitution itself. We agree with the follo 'l;\g
passage for the judgment of Sir Harry Gibbs in Attorney Gene
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The President of the Republic of Vanuatu [1994] vUSC 2 (Civil
Case No. 124 of 1994):

"I is impossible to contend that the President succeeded to the position
of the British Sovereign, or that his powers are to be assumed to have
the same characteristics as those of the British Sovereign. The New
Hebrides was ruled as a Condominium and the Constitution of Vanuaftu
came into being as a result of the agreement and approval of a
Constitutional Committee and of a subsequent agreement between the
Governments of Great Britain and France. Article 95 (2) of the
Constitution continues, until the Parliament otherwise provides, the
British and French laws in force or applied in Vanuatu immediately
before the day of Independence to the extent that they are not expressly
revoked or incompatible with the independent status of Vanuatu. This
provision does not mean that the position of the President of Vanuatu is
governed by the Constitutional laws of either Britain or France, since the
Constitutional position of the Heads of States of those two countries is
very different one from the other. The nature of the powers and posilion
of the President of Vanuatu can be determined only by a consideration
of the Constitution itself. No doctrine of immunity based on the position
of the British CGrown can be imported into the Constitution of Vanuatu.
Further, the courts of Vanuatu are not the President’s Courts; they are
set up by the Constitution.”

Sir Harry Gibbs went on to observe that although the power of the
President of Vanuatu to grant a pardon is entirely derived from the
Constitution, that power is one that corresponds to the power of
English Crown, so that English decisions (and we would add the
decisions of other common law systems) may be of assistance. In
this case the decisions referred to above that state the common
law position do provide assistance. They support the interpretation
placed on Article 38 by the Chief Justice.

Counsel for the appellant in the course of his very detailed and
thorough argument has taken the Courl to decisions of the
Supreme Court of the United States of America which have
construed the effect of a pardon in a similar way.

Counsel contends that the effect of these authorities is o support
the general statement appearing in 8 Halsbury, Laws of England,
4" Ed. at para. 952:

“The effect of a pardon under the Great Seal is to clear the person from
all infamy, and from all consequences of the offence for which it is
granted, and from all statutory or other disqualifications following upon

conviction. It makes him, as it were, a new man S0 as to enable himto__ . __
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It is conceded by the respondent that the pardon granted to the
appellant in this case is an unconditional free pardon. The
appellant contends that s. 3 of the Members of Parliament
(Vacation of Seats) Act imposes a disqualification upon a member
of Parliament who is convicted and sentenced to more than two
years imprisonment. The grant of an unconditional free pardon, it is
said, removes that disqualification, and does so with effect from
the date on which the punishment was imposed. Thus, the effect of
the pardon is to remove that which disqualified the appellant so
that he must be restored to his seat as an elected member of
Parliament. In so far as a literal application of the words of 5. 3
might suggest otherwise, it is submitted that s. 3 must be read
down so as to allow the restoration of the seat to an elected
member of Parliament who is granted a pardon . This is so as it is
beyond the power of Parliament to abridge the constitutional power
of pardon under Article 38: see s. 9 of the Interpretation Act that
provides that every Act shall be read and construed subject to the
Constitution and where any provision of an Act conflicts with a
provision of the Constitution, the latter shall prevail.

For reasons which follow, we are unable to accept that the pardon
granted to the appellant has the effect contended for.

As the arguments of counsel for the appellant acknowledge, the
provisions of s. 3 of the Members of Parliament (Vacation of Seats)
Act are critical to the outcome of this case. At times in the course
of his arguments counsel came close to contending that s. 3 is
constitutionally invalid, but ultimately this submission was not
made, nor could it be in these proceedings. If the constitutional
validity of an Act of Parliament is to be attacked, it must be done
by Constitutional Petition where the Attorney General is a party
joined to represent the Republic of Vanuatu: see Article 53 of the
Constitution, s. 218 of the Criminal Procedure Code Act [CAP. 136]
and Picchi v. The Attorney General, Civil Appeal Case No. 20 of
2001, Judgment 1°' November 2001.

This Court in Carlot v. Attorney General (1988) 1Van LR 407 and

Sope v. Attorney General (1988) 1Van LR 411 has held that s. 2 of

the Members of Parliament (Vacation of Seats) Act s

constitutionally valid. The reasons in those cases lead also to the

conclusion that s. 3 is constitutionally valid. In Sope v. Attor.:;e;{;., VAN
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"We have held in Appeal No. 4/88 that s. 2 of the Members of Parliament
(Vacation of Seats) Act 1083 is constitutional insofar as there is power to
unseal members if that is necessary to ensure the proper functioning of
Parliament. To that we would add if it is necessary to ensure that only
persons of proper chara cter are members. That is necessary to preserve
the reputation and integrity of Parliament. Thus bankrupts and convicts
may be excluded.”

By its terms, s. 3 (1) of the Members of Parliament (Vacation of
Seats) Act provides that two consequences follow if a member of
Parliament is convicted of an offence and is sentenced 1o
imprisonment for a term of not less than two years. First, the
member “shall forthwith cease to perform his functions as a
Member of Parliament’. That provision is in the nature of a
disqualification that removes the entitement of the person
concerned to hold the office.

Secondly, s. 3 (1) provides that the “seat shall become vacant’ al
the expiration of the prescribed time. The argument of the
appellant characterises this happening as a disqualification of the
member, but that is not what the section says. Once the seat
becomes vacant there is no longer a member who holds it. The
vacation of the seat is an event separate and independent from the
disqualification of the member. The seat becomes vacant
automatically by operation of the Act. Once the seat becomes
vacant. thereafter provisions of the Representation of the Peaple
Act [CAP. 146] comes into play, and under the provisions relating
to a vacancy, a by-election should occur to fill the seat afresh.

Counsel sought to support the argument that s. 3 (1) operates
solely as a disqualification of the member by referring to the
Explanatory Note which accompanied the introduction of the Bill
which amended s. 3 (1) to its present form. The Explanatory Note
said that in its previous form the words used in the section were
ambiguous and could be interpreted to mean that a person
convicted of any offence however petty would be disqualified. As
amended “the section (would) disqualify a member who was
convicted of an offence and sentenced to imprisonment for 2
years or more.” We do not think the Explanatory Note helps the
appellant’s argument. First, reference may only be made o
secondary material such as an explanatory note where the words
of the Act passed by Parliament are ambiguous. In the present
case, we do not think that there is ambiguity in the words used.
Secondly, as we have just noted, the section prescribes tWeZZor vy
distinct consequences. The first is a consequence g ;pf“ 5 “'H\%

I.'.JJI.:"l| DrAsPEL \
1‘\?-!' counT OF "I
AP
'E“

By




disqualification, and the Explanatory Note can be sensibly
understood as referring to that part of the section.

It may be accepted for the purpose of deciding this appeal that as
a general proposition the grant of a pardon has the effect in law
stated in Halsbury, including the removal of any disqualification.
However neither that statement, nor the many decisions to which
the Court has been referred by the appellant’s counsel concerning
the common law position, establish that a pardon has the
retrospective effect for which the appellant contends.

As a matter of logic, the pardon can only operate from the time
when it is granted. From that time forward the consequences of the
conviction and sentence, including disqualification, are removed.
That this is so is recognised in the leading case of R. v. Cosgrove
[1948] Tas SR 99 where Morris CJ said at 105 - 106:-

“Blackstone states the effect of a pardon in Vol. 4, p. 402, as follows:
‘4. Lastly, the effect of such pardon by the King, is to make the
offender a new man; to acquit him of all corporal penalties and
forfeitures annexed to that offence for which he obtains his pardon;
and not so much to restore his former, as to give him a new, credit
and capacity.’

That passage is entirely consistent with what Hawkins says.

Accordingly, a pardon is in no sense equivalent to an acquittal. It
contains no notion that the man to whom the pardon is extended never
did in fact commit the crime, but merely from the date of the pardon
gives him a new credit and capacity. The plea in my apinion is not
sustained.” (Emphasis added).

We do not understand the decision in Hay v. Justices of the Tower
Division of London (1890) 24 QBD 561, on which the appellant
heavily relies, to decide otherwise. In that case a statute provided
that “Every person convicted of felony shall for ever be disqualified
from selling spirits by retail, and no licence to sell spirits by retail
shall be granted to any person who shall have been so convicted
as aforesaid ...". The plaintiff applied for a licence to sell spirits by
retail. He had at one time being convicted of felony but had
received a free pardon. It was held that the disqualification
imposed on him by the statute was removed by the pardon, and
that the licence might be granted to him. It is significant that at the
time when the plaintiff applied for his licence the disqualificati
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Although, once it is granted, the pardon “makes him a new man’
(Halsbury) it is clear that a pardon does not undo events that have
already happened, or remove rights that have become vested in a
third party. This most clearly appears from the decisions of the
United States of America to which the Court has been referred.
Counsel for the appellant relied on the following passage from the
majority judgment in Ex parte Garland 71 US 333 (1866) at 380 —
381:-

“Such being the case, the inquiry arises as to the effect and operation of
a pardon, and on this point all the authorities concur. A pardon reaches
both the punishment prescribed for the offence and the guilt of the
offender; and when the pardon is full, it releases the punishment and
blots out of existence the guilt, so that in the eye of the law the offender
is as innocent as if he had never committed the offence. If granted
before conviction, it prevents any of the penalties and disabilities
consequent upon conviction from attaching; if granted after conviction, it
removes the penalties and disabilities, and restores him to all his civil
rights, it makes him, as it were, a new man, and gives him a new credil
and capacity.”

However, immediately following this paragraph the judgment
continues at 381-

“There is only this limitation to its operation: it does not restore offices
forfeited, or property or interests vested in others in consequence of the
conviction and judgment.”

In Knote v. United States 95 US 149 (1877), in a unanimous
decision, the Supreme Court of the United States said, after citing
with appraval Ex parte Garland and number of other decisions to
like effect:-

"A pardon is an act of grace by which an offender is released from the
consequences of his offense, so far as such release is practicable and
within control of the pardoning power, or of officers under its direction. If
releases the offender from all disabilities imposed by the offense, and
restores to him all his civil rights. In contemplation of law, it so far blots
out the offence, that afterwards it cannot be imputed to him to prevent
the assertion of his legal rights. It gives to him a new credit and capacity,
and rehabilitates him to that extent in his former position. But it does not
make amends for the past. It affords no relief for what has been suffered
by the offender in his person by imprisonment, forced labor, or
otherwise; it does not give compensation for what has been done or
suffered, nor does it impose upon the government any obligation to give
it. The offense being established by judicial proceedings, that which has
been done or suffered while they were in force is presumed to have
been rightfully done and justly suffered, and no satisfaction for it can be"
required. Neither does the pardon affect any rights which have vest




others directly by fhe execution of the judgment for the offense or whfch

(Emphasm added)

In the present case, if the literal meaning of words s. 3 (1) of the
Members of Parliament (Vacation of Seats) Act are given full
effect, the seat became vacant at the expiration of the prescribed
time. That would be an event that is not and cannot be reversed by
the later granting of a pardon to the member of Parliament under
Article 38. It is for this reason that counsel argues that the words in
s. 3 (1) must be read down so that a pardon can operate to allow
the seat to be restored. How the section is to be read down, or how
the words used are to be construed to achieve this effect is not
stated in counsel's submissions,

In our opinion to achieve the effect contended for, much more than
merely reading down s. 3 in some unspecified way would be
required. Once the seat is vacated, the Representation of the
People Act provides the procedures by which the seat is to be
filled. It would be necessary also to impose a limitation or
qualification on the provisions of that Act so as to allow the election
process to give a way to the reappointment of the former member
in the event of a pardon. To achieve the result contended for would
involve a major rewriting of the law to bring about this effect. It is
beyond the power of the Court to do this. The role of the Court is to
interpret, not rewrite, laws enacted by Parliament.

Counsel for the appellant conceded in the course of argument that
if and when a new member is duly elected to fill a seat that has
been vacated under s. 3 (1), a pardon thereafter granted to the
former member cannot operate to remove the new member from
office. In such a case, the pardon could not have the effect of
reinstating the former member. In the present case, there has so
far been no election to fill the vacant seat, and it is said that this
problem does not arise. However, once it is conceded that a
pardon cannot restore the former member to the seat if the seat
has been filled by a duly elected new member, in our opinion it
must follow that, as a matter of construction, there is no implied
limitation to be read in s. 3 (1) to the effect that the literal meaning
of the words in that sectlon do not apply in the event of a pardon

member of Parliament later receives a pardon.
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It was suggested in the course of argument that as Parliament
when enacting s. 3 gave specific and express attention to the
judicial power to set aside a conviction or punishment it should be
inferred that Parliament overlooked the power of the President to
grant a pardon under Article 38. We are unable to accept that
argument. Section 3 could have, but does not, provide that the
seat becomes vacant immediately upon conviction and imposition
of sentence. Rather, the seat becomes vacant at the expiration of
a period of time. That a period of time is allowed is consistent with
Parliament having recognised that other events might overtake the
conviction and sentence so that the member again becomes
qualified to continue holding the seat.

The fact that Parliament referred expressly to the appeal process
does not give rise to the inference that Parliament did not
recognise that the President could act to grant a pardon under
Article 38. If the convicted member considered that the conviction
and penalty should not have been imposed, or was unduly harsh
such that the member might gain the grant of a pardon, it could be
expected that the member would not only seek a pardon but would
at the same time seek to appeal. The provisions of s. 3 (2) would
enable a member to gain further time within which an application to
the President could be considered.

In our opinion the learned Chief Justice was correct to refuse the
declarations sought by the appellant. In our opinion the appeal
must be dismissed with costs against the appellant.

Dated at Port Vila, this 9" day of May 2003.

BY ORDER OF THE COURT
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IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE REPUBLIC OF VANUATU

(Civil Jurisdiction)
Civil Case No. 49 of 2004
BETWEEN: BARAK TAME MAAUTAMATE
SOPE
Applicant

AND: THE REPUBLIC OF VANUATU

Defendant

Coram; Justice Treston

Mr. Malcolm for the Applicant
Ms. Lini-Leo & Ms. Wano for Respondent - Ombudsrman

Ms. Wodak for Respondent - Public Prosecutor
No appearance on behalf of the Attorney General

Date of Hearing: 18 July 2004

Date of Decision: 26 July 2004

RESEMvEU JUDGMENT

APPLICATION

In this Constitutional application the Claimant, Barak Tame Maautamate

Sope, applies for a declaration that the recommendation in a.report .~ -

entitied "Breach of Leadership Code by Mr. Barak Sope" issued bv the ¢
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Ombudsman dated 29 January 2004 is unconstitutional. He also seeks
costs. The grounds are that the recommendation in the report is
contrary to Articles 5 (1) {k), 5 (2) (h) and 55 of the Constitution of the
Republic of Vanuatu.

The applicant also seeks a declaration that any prosecution of the
applicant taken by the Public Prosecutor would be unlawful and seeks
an order prohibiting publication of the Ombudsman's report.

The Applicant has filed a sworn statement. The Respondents have not
sought to cross-examine him and have filed no sworn statements in
response.

FACTS

The applicant was the Prime Minister of Vanuatu from November 1999
to April 2001. On 18 July 2002 he was convicted on two counts of
forgery of Government Guarantees during the period that he was Prime
Minister. He was sentenced to 3 years imprisonment. On 13 November
2002, the then President of the Republic pardoned the Claimant from
the un-served part of his sentence.

The Supreme Court later held thet the applicart Zii nci remsi
MomLer 3 ot AL ENT hE oSt h 2 jarhamentar, 3300 Thal et oo

was upheld by the Court of Appeal on & May 2003.

On 3 December 2002, the Ombudsman had produced a document
entitled "Working paper on the alleged breached (sic) of the Leadership
Code by Mr. Barak Sope Maautamate". A copy of the document was
provided to the applicant for his commentary on 15 May 2003. That

contained the following recommendation: - igame A
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“That the public Prosecutor should decide within 3 months of
receiving this report, whether there are sufficient grounds of
evidence to support a prosecution under the Leadership
Code Act.”

On 28 May 2003 the applicant's solicitor wrote a response contending
that the report appeared vexatious and that the matter had already been
dealt with by the criminal courts and that there were elements of double
jeopardy involved. The letter required the report not to be published. No
response was received.

In or about December 2003 the applicant contested a by-election and
was elected back into Parliament.

On 9 January 2004 the Ombudsman produced a further document
entitled "Working paper on the breach of Leadership Code by Mr. Barak
Sope”. This was sent to the applicant by letter dated 29 January 2004.

The recommendations contained in the later document were: -

"Recommendation 1:  The Public Prosecutor commence a
prosecution against Mr. Sope under
sactions 1gis) 27 of the Leadersrip Code
Act . breach of Lezaership Code Ac

constituted by his conviction for forgery.

Recommendation 2: The Public Prosecutor must decide within
3 months of receiving this report, whether
there are sufficient grounds or evidence
to support a prosecution under this.
Code"
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The applicant's lawyer responded in a letter dated 12 February 2004
that the report was unconstitutional. The Ombudsman replied by letter

of 24 February 2004.
SUBMISSIONS

The applicant submits: -

It was open to the Prosecutor to lay a charge under S. 27 at the

1.
time of the trial for forgery.

2. The reports of the Ombudsman require the Public Prosecutor to
issue charges under the Leadership Code or to decide if there is

sufficient evidence.

The reports contain an implied threat requiring the Prosecutor to

3.
proceed or face further inquiry or public rebuke.
4, The reports are nothing more and nothing less than an attempt to
further embarrass and ridicule Mr. Sope.
5. The demand for prosecution is unconstitutional, and does not

gconrd aqua, traatoent fo th2 24 ieart,

The demand for a further prosecution puts the applicant at risk of

B.
double jeopardy.

7 The Ombudsman is conducting an enquiry on a matter that has
previously been the subject of an enquiry. s
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1. The two reports relate to the same enquiry, which is not yet

The Ombudsman submits: -

complete, and copies of the documents were provided to Mr.
Sope in accordance with the Ombudsman Act No. 27 of 1998.

2. It is premature for the Court to consider any infringement of
Article 5 (2) (h) of the Constitution and submissions as to
whether the applicant could have been charged and convicted at
the same time as the forgery matters can be considered only if
and after the Public Prosecutor decides to prosecute the
applicant.

3. It is constitutionally proper for the Ombudsman to make
recommendations at the working paper stage.

4. The applicant is attempting to prevent the Ombudsman from
performing his duties and functions under the Constitution, the
Ombudsman Act and the Leadership Code Act.

5. The Ombudsman is not directing or controlling the Public
Prosecutor.

= b T -~ L o o SN T - S o R L T |
1z W Lic Frogzoior has sizctsr to moaxe subrmissione —Tactive,

1

the role of amicus curiae. He submits: -

1. That a prosecution could take place against the applicant in
breach of section 27 of the Leadership Code Act (No. 2 of 1998)
and that his right to protection of the law as enshrined in Article 5
(1) (d) of the Constitution would not be infringed if such a

prosecution did occur.
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2. Such a prosecution would not be for the same offence. The
original prosecution was for forgery under section 139 (1) of the
Penal Code [CAP.135] with completely different essential
elements from any proposed prosecution under Section 27 of the
Leadership Code Act.

3. A section 27 conviction could not have been entered at the time
of the first conviction. It is a condition precedent to a prosecution
under section 27 that the claimant has been convicted by a Court
of an offence under the Penal Code Act, and such a conviction
could not be entered until the conclusion of the first trial.

4. A section 27 prosecution would not infringe the applicant's right
to equal treatment under the law or administrative action.

B. The working papers do not infringe the independence of the
Public Prosecutor as enshrined in Article 55 of the Constitution.

The Prosecutor went on to submit that the Ombudsman has the
responsibility under Ombudsman Act to investigate and report on the
conduct of a leader (other than the President) if the Ombudsman has
formed the view on reasonable grounds that a leader may have
breached the code. The Ombudsman is then required to aive a copy of
P 2 Enet io the Puiiic Prg-cutn, e must foilow He st i e O
set out In the Ombudsman Act. There could not at this stage be a
breach of Article 55 but, in any event, the second recommendation
does not seek to direct or control the Public Prosecutor's functions but
simply puts forward a recommendation for consideration by the Public

Prosecutor.

LA
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Some assistance can be obtained from decided cases as to the

approach to be take to a constitutional application such as this.

In Picchi v Attorney General CAC No. 20 of 2001 the Court of Appeal

said at page 5: -

"Breaches of constitutional rights must be based on reality

and not on some theoretical or assumed scenario”,

The Court of Appeal had also reaffirmed in Francois & ors v Ozols &

ors CC155 of 1996 that: -

“The rights and freedoms guaranteed by Article 5 are to be
accorded on generous interpretation”, and that

"The provisions of Articles 6 (and also those of Article 53)
provide a new procedure for seeking the review of
administrative decisions by organs of government and public
officials, and the correction of inappropriate’, unlawful or
unjust exercises of government power. "

In Timakata v Government CC No. 5 of 1994 Downing J said: -

"I might 2dd that wher interpreting the Conctituinn some
Csideration has fc be iven o it Fingsa EdLY.  iierDrelss
too rigidly it could become a document of great constraint
rather than one which sets forth the rights of the people and
govemment structures of the Republic of Vanuatu.”

| approach my task mindful of these principles and aware that the

application falls to be dealt with under the Constitutional Procedures

Rules Crder No. 26 of 2003.
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Section 34 of the Leadership Code Act No. 2 of 1998 provides as

follows: -

"ROLE OF OMBUDSMAN

(1)

(@)

(3)

(4)

The Ombudsman must investigate and report on the
conduct of a leader (other than the President):

(@) if the Ombudsman receives a complaint from a
person that a leader has breached this Code;

or

(b)  if the Ombudsman has formed the view on
reasonable grounds that a leader may have
breached this Code.

The Ombudsman must give a copy of the report to
the Public Prosecutor and where, in the opinion of the
Ombudsman, the complaint involves criminal
misconduct, to the Commissioner of Police within 14
days after forwarding his or her findings to the Prime

Minister yprier Articie 82 (2" of he ConsHiution

Where an Act provides for the functions, duties, and
powers of the Ombudsman, the provisions of that Act
will apply when the Ombudsman is carrying out an

investigation under this Act,

Notwithstanding subsection (3), for the purpose of

fulfifling any function or duty lawfully conferred-or
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(5)

(6)

q%’

imposed on the QObudsman under this Act the
Ombudsman:

(@) shall have full access at all convenient times to
Government contracts, documents, books,
accounts and any other material that relates to
and is relevant to the investigation; and

(b) may, by notice in writing signed by the
Ombudsman require any person having
possession or control of any Government
contract, documents, books, accounts or any
other material that relates to and is relevant to
the investigation to deliver such document or
documents to the Ombudsman at such time
and place as is specified in the notice; and

(c) may cause extracts to be taken from any
Government contract, documents, books,
accounts or any other material that relates to
and is relevant to the inquiry without paying any

fee therefor.

Where a person fails to comply with a notice or any

S aer  pEguiremsnt o der  subsediion (4 e

Lk

—imbudsman may apply to the Supreme Court for an

order requiring that person to do so.

Where the complaint is against the Ombudsman the
investigation will be carried out by the Attorney-
General in accordance with the procedure set out in
this part as If the Attorney-General were vested with
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all the functions, duties discretions and powers of the
Ombudsman.”

Even under S. 11 (2) (b) the Ombudsman Act No. 27 of 1998 and
Article 62 (1) (c) of the Constitution, the Ombudsman can exercise his

functions on his own initiative. In this case the Ombudsman has

elected to initiate the report on the applicant and his conduct and is in

the process of carrying out an enquiry but has not yet made public the

result of such enquiry under S. 34 (1) of the Ombudsman Act.

| consider that it would be wrong for this Court to rule that that process

should be curtailed and | do not find that the applicant's constitutional
rights under Article 5 (1) (d), (k) or 5 (2) (h) have been infringed.

Those rights under the Constitution are as follows: -
‘FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS AND FREEDOMS OF THE
INDIVIDUAL

(1)

The Republic of Vanuatu recognizes, that, subject to
any restrictions imposed by law on non-citizens, all
persons are entitled to the following fundamental
rights and freedoms of the individual without
aiscrimination on the grounds of race, place of origin,

i

re'inious * frodiinnzal Bel

o g - e
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language O sex uut subject 1o respect for tne rights
and freedoms of others and to the legitimate public
interest in defence, safety, public order, welfare and
heailth -

(a) life;

(b)  liberty;
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(c)
(d)

(8)

(7)
(9)
(h)
(i)
)

(k)

oo

security of the person;
protection of the law:

freedom from inhuman treatment and forced
labour;

freedom of conscience and worship;
freedom of expression;

freedom of assembly and association;
freedom of movement:

protection for the privacy of the home and other
property and from unjust deprivation of
property;

equal treatment under the law or administrative
action, except that no law shall be inconsistent
with this sub-paragraph insofar as it makes
provision for the special benefit, welfare,
protection or advancement of females, children
and young persons, members of under-
prvieged  aroups or Mnakiteaie of  es.

Jevelopea areas.
Protection of the law shall inciude the following-

(@)  everyone charged with an offence shall

have a fair hearing within a reasonable

time, by an independent and Impartial
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

(g)

(h)

dn

court and be afforded a lawyer if it is a
serious offence;

everyone is presumed innocent until a
court establishes his guilt according to
law;

everyone charged shall be informed
promptly in a language he understands
of the offence with which he is being
charged;

if an accused does not understand the
language to be used in the proceedings
he shall be provided with an interpreter
throughout the proceedings;

a person shall not be tried in his absence
without his consent unless he makes it
impossible for the court to proceed in his
presence;

no-one shall be convicted in respect of
an act or omission which did not
constitute a7 cffence krowvn to writtar Ar

Custor, ‘aw a:the time i was cormirnmsa

no-one shall be punished with a greater
penalty than that which exists at the time

of the commission of the offence:

no person who has been pardoned, or

tried and convicted or acquitted, shall be _ .

tried again for the same offence ar-any~
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other offence of which he could have
been convicted at his trial."

However, while | agree that the applicant cannot be tried for the same
offence or for any other offence which he could have be convicted of at
his trial the offence to be considered must be included under section 27
of the Leadership Code Act, which provides as follows: -

(1) A leader who is convicted by a court of an offence
under the Penal Code Act [CAP. 175] and as listed in
subsection (2) is:

(a) in breach of this Code; and

(b) liable to be dealt with in accordance with
sections 41 and 42 in addition to any other
punishment that may be imposed under any
other Act.

(2) The offences are:

(a) intentional homicide;
(b)  intentional assault causing death or damage of

a permanent nature;

oy

eng ¢ sftampiad rane:
(d)  abduction;
(e) incest

(f)  sexual intercourse with a girl under care or

protection,

(g) indecent assault;
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(3)

d‘g. |

(h)  a serious intentional assault:

(i) pedury;

()  making a false statement:

(k)  fabricating or destroying evidence:

() conspiracy to defeat justice;

(m)  corruption and bribery of officials;

(n)  theft or misappropriation or false pretences;
(0)  fraud or fraudulently obtaining credit:

(P)  receiving property dishonestly obtained:
(q) demanding with menaces;

(r)  robbery;

(s)  extortion;

(t) forgery or uttering forged documents;
‘u unlawful discrimination:

(v} unlawfully entering;

(w) any of the offences under Part XV of the
Representation of the People Act [CAP. 146];

(x)  attempting to commit any of these offences.

This section does not limit the power of a court to deal —

with a person under any other Act.
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The applicant was convicted of forgery. That offence is referred to in
S.27 (2) (1), |

L~ I am of the view that a Section 27 prosecution is not " the same
offence” nor is it "any other offence of which he could have been
convicted at his trial” in terms of Article 5 (2) (h).

+ K L "I

In Pearce v R [1998] 194 CLR 610 the Court said this: -

“The expression "double jeopardy” is not always used with a
single meaning. Sometimes it is used to encompass what is
said to be a wider principle that "no one should be punished
again for the same matter”. Further, “double Jeopardy" is an
expression that is employed in relation to several different
stages of the criminal justice process: prosecution, conviction
and punishment."

The elements to be proved and the evidence required for each
prosecution in these circumstances are completely different.

The elements for a forgery prosecution are set out in section 139 (1) of
the Pena! Code as being: -

e MasNg orataldt fucwinet;
(b)  knowledge of the falsely of the document: and

(c)  an intention that the document be used or acted upon as
genuine or that some person be induced by the belief that

it is genuine to do or refrain from doing any thing.
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The elements for a section 27 prosecution under the Leadership Code

Act are: -
(@) thatthe defendant is a leader; and

(b)  that the defendant has been convicted by a Court of an
offence_under the Penal Code Act as listed in section
27 (2)

But, in addition a section 27 conviction could not have been entered at
the time of the conviction for forgery because for such a conviction it
was a condition precedent to a prosecution under the Leadership Code
Act that the applicant had been convicted by a Court of an offence
under the Penal Code Act. As a matter of pure logic in these
circumstances the Penal Code Act prosecution must predate and
precede the Leadership Code Act prosecution. There is no double
jeopardy. | am also of the view that the consideration in this application
must be limited to consideration of a Section27 prosecution and not to
any other possible prosecution under other provisions of the
Leadership Code Act because that is the course which has been
contemplated.

| am also satisfied that there has not been nor is there likely to be any
mfritgement ni the aoplicant's righ™ t) 2gual traatrent unde, the 12

Bl e R e TV
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Parliament, or his former position as Prime Minister.

Article 66 of the Constitution relates to a Leadership Code and

provides as follows: -

'CONDUCT OF LEADERS
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(1) Any person defined as a leader in Article 67 has a
duty to conduct himself in such a way, both in his

public and private life, so as not to-

(@) place himself in a position in which he has or
could have a conflict of interests or in which the
fair exercise of his public or official duties might
be compromised:

(b) demean his office or position;
(c)  allow his integrity to be called into question: or

(d) endanger or diminish respect for and
confidence in the integrity of the Government of
the Republic of Vanuatu.

(2) In particular, a leader shall not use his office for
personal gain or enter into any transaction or engage
in any enterprise or activity that might be expected to
give rise to doubt in the public mind as to whether he
is carrying out or his carried out the duty imposed by
subarticle (1)."

i the ligrt of ihis there is no evidence of an: uneaual traziran: e i

tlite: “he ape cvion woes nzt rafer in any detell © sy grenun
treatment nor does the sworn statement of the applicant. Under Articles
66 and 67 of the Constitution the conduct of Leaders is defined and the
investigation of a potential Section 27 prosecution would not infringe

the applicant's right to equal treatment under the law.
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-~ As to the independence of Public Prosecutor, | am of the view that the
working paper does not infringe such independence as enshrined in
Article 55 of the Constitution, which provides as follows: -

"PUBLIC PROSECUTOR

The function of prosecution shall vest in the Public
Prosecutor, who shall be appointed by the President of the
Republic on the advice of the Judicial Service Commission.
He shall not be subject to the direction or control of any other
person or body in the exercise of his functions."

The recommendation as formulated in the report is merely that, a
recommendation, and that is not, as the claimant would have it, a
directive or a requirement for the Public Prosecutor to issue charges
under the Leadership Code Act were the report published in those
terms. The independence and integrity of the Public Prosecutor is
preserved, and | cannot find that there is any direction or control
contained in the working papers of the Ombudsman to curtail the
exercise of the Public Prosecutor's functions or discretion. A copy of
the working paper was referred to the Public Prosecutor on 29 January
2004 and he quite rightly deciined to comment. In addition the Public
Prosecutor cannot issue a prosecution under the Leadership Code Act

without ¢ re somma-Haticr ron the Omoudeman.

There is certainly no implied threat or suggestion that the Public
Prosecutor would face further inquiry or public rebuke should he not

exercise his discretion in favour of a prosecution under section 27.

Equally, ! cannot find in either report that there is anything which would
indicate that the Ombudsman is attempting to embarrass and ridicule

Mr. Sope. The Ombudsman is simply carrying out his Statutory
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functions. | do not find that there is anything sinister in the timing of the
issue of the working papers that shows something of a vendetta
against the applicant.

| agree also with the submission that there cannot yet be any breach of
Article 55 and there is no indication that there is any intention
expressed as to how the Public Prosecutor's function ought to be
exercised. Of course the applicant is entitled to bring these
proceedings now by virtue of Article 6 (1) of the Constitution which
provides as follows: -

‘ENFORCEMENT OF FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS

(1)  Anyone who considers that any of the rights
guaranteed to him by the Constitution has been, is being or
is likely to be infringed may, independently of any other
possible legal remedy, apply to the Supreme Court to
enforce that right."

These circumstances could mean that the rights of the applicant "are
likely to be infringed” in his view so he may apply to the Supreme Court
at this stage and | do not accept the Ombudsman's submission that the
application is premature.

L f133 Wat b 2 Crbudsman . sl conducung a resr enGuiny o <
matter previously undertaken in breach of Section 19 (1) of the
Ombudsman Act. The investigation is clearly an ongoing one. That is
made perfectly clear because the same file number, 1185, has been
used and even though the enclosures in the second working paper had
Just become available when the first working paper was sent to the
applicant, the Ombudsman has not closed his file and has-never
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published a report or recommendation under Sections 33 and 34 of the

Ombudsman Act which provides as follows: -

"PUBLICISING PROCEEDINGS, REPORTS ETC

38.

For the purpose of giving effect to any findings or
recommendations of the Ombudsman following an
enquiry into the conduct of a government agency or a
leader, the Ombudsman may:

(a) publicise proceedings, reports and
recommendations; and

(b) make reports and recommendations to the
Parliament, the Prime Minister and other
relevant persons and bodies as provided for by
this Act, and

(c) give advice

(1)  Subject to subsection (2), the Ombudsman

must:

(@) make public by way of a written report
the results of arv enquiries czrrier! cut v
am Qr ner GUCR ARy Sniros

recommendations and opinions; and

(b)  fumish the complainant (if any) with a
copy of his or her report.

(2) The Ombudsman may decide to keep a
report, or part of it. confidential to the Poagga_. -

—6."“_’-

Minister or the person in charge of Ihe
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government agency the subject of the enquiry,
on the grounds of public security or public
interest.

(3) If the Ombudsman decides to keep a report,
or part of it, confidential he or she must inform
the complainant (if any) in writing of his or her
findings without in any way prejudicing the
grounds on which the Ombudsman decided to
keep the report, or the part, confidential”

The difference between the recommendations in the Working Papers
was that on 29 January 2004 an additional recommendation was made
namely that; -

“The Public Prosecutor commence a prosecution against Mr.
Sope under Sections (sic) 27 of the Leadership Code Act for
breach of the Leadership Code Act constituted by his
conviction for forgery."

| am satisfied that the second Working Paper was effectively a re-issue
of the first when further information, namely the High Court and Court
of Appeal decisions, was included and had been considered by the
C neucsman. The e was simplv a reformulation of the recarimen:alion
o the 1 gh ol cugsegust svents ard a furdper a2 -7 fe GG

working paper.

CONCLUSION

| find that none of the grounds raised in the application have
succeeded, and the Constitutional application is accordingly dismissed.
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| award costs on the standard basis, in favour of the Attorney General,
the Ombudsman, and the Public Prosecutor against the applicant as
agreed or as determined by the Court.

Dated AT PORT VILA, this 26th day of July 2004
BY THE COURT

4
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APPENDIX F

THE CONSTITUTION OF THE REPUBLIC OF VANUATU

THE LEADERSHIP CODE
THE PENAL CODE (CAP 135)

CONSTITUTION OF THE REPUBLIC OF VANUATU

CONDUCT OF LEADERS

86.(1) Any person defined as a leader in Article 67 has a duty to conduct

himself in such a way, both in his public and private life, so as not to-

(a) place himself in a position in which he has or could have a
conflict of interests or in which the fair exercise of his public ar
official duties might be compromised,

{b) demean his office or position;
{c) allow his integrity to be called into question; or
{d) endanger or diminish respect for and confidence in the integrity

of the Gavernment of the Republic of Vanuatu.

In particular, a leader shall not use his office for personal gain or enter
into any transaction or engage in any enterprise or activity that might be
gxpected to give rise to doubt in the public mind as to whether he is
carrying out or has carried out the duty impesed by sub-articte (1),

DEFINITION OF A LEADER

67.

For the purposes of this Chapter, a leader means the President of the
Republic, the Prime Minister and other Ministers, members of Parliament,
and such public servants, officers of Government agencies and other
officers as may be prescribed by law.
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20.

27,

28.

29,

DUTIES OF LEADERS

A leader must:

{a) comply with and observe the law;

{b) comply with and cbserve the fundamental principles of leadership

contained Article 66 of the Constitution;

(c) comply with and observe the duties obligations and responsibilities
established by this Code or any other enactment that affects the leader,
and

(d] not influence or attempt to influegnce or exert pressure on or threaten or

abuse persons carrying out their lawful duty.

MISUSE OF PUBLIC MONEYS

A leader must not use, or agree to the use of, any public money for a purpose
other than the purpose of which it may lawfully be used

OTHER OFFENCES PUNISHABLE UNDER THIS ACT

(1) A leader who is convicted by a court of an offence under the Penal Code
Act [CAP 135] and as listed In subsection (2) is:

(a) in breach of this Code; and

(o) liable to be dealt with in accordance with secticns 41 and 42 in
addition to any other punishment that may be imposed under any
other Act.

(2) The offences are:

() forgery or uttering forged documents;

OBEYING THE LAW

A leader acting in his or her capacity as a leader who fails to abide by an
enactment that imposes on the leader a duty, obligation, or responsibility is in
breach of this Code.

SPECIFICATION PROVISIONS

Without limiting the generality of section 28 a leader who fails to abide by the
provisions of an Act that provides for:

(a) the public service; ar
{b) public finance or economic management; or
{c) expenditure review committee or audit functions; or

(d) government contracts or tenders;

is in breach of this Code
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DISMISSAL FROM OFFICE

(1) Where a leader is convicted of 2 breach of the Leadership Code the court
may, if it regards the breach as serious, make an order dismissing the
leader from office

(2) In determining whether the breach of this code is sericus. the court may

have regard 1o

(a

(b}

(c)
(d)

(€)

in the case of a breach involving a financial matter, the amount
involved:

whether the conduct of the leader was significantly below what
would be expected of a leader

where it is possible to discern, the motives of the leader,

the extent to which the breach diminished the respect or public
confidence in the leader's position; and

whether the leader has been previously convicted of a breach of
this Caode

DISQUALIFICATION FROM FUTURE OFFICE

Where the leader is dismissed from office under section 41 the leader is
disgualified from standing for election as, or being appointed as, a leader of any
kind for a period of 10 years from the date of the convicticn,

PENAL CODE (CAP 135)

FORGERY DEFINED

(1

(2)

(3)

Forgery is making a false document, knowing it to be false, with
the intent that is shall in any way be used or acted upon as
genuine, whether thin the Republic or not, or that some person
shall be induced by the belief that it is genuine to do or refrain
from deing anything, whether within the Republic or not.

For the purposes of this section, the expression “making a false
document” includes making any material alleration in a genuine
document, whether by addition, insertion, obliteration, erasure,
removal or otherwise.

For the purposes of this section the expression "false document’
mean a document :-

(a)

(b)

(c)

of which the whole or any material part purports to be
made by any person who did not make it or authorise its
making;

of which the whale or any material part purports to be
made on behalf or any person who did not authorise its
making;

in which, though it purports to be made by the persan
who did in fact make it or autherise its making, or
purports to be made on behalf of the person who did in
fact authorise its making, the time or place of its making,
whether either is material, or any number or
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distinguishing mark identifying the document, whether
either is material, is falsely stated;

(d} of which the whole or same material part purports to be
made by a fictitious or deceased persan, or purperts fo
be made on behalf of any such person; or which is made
in the name of an existing person, either by him or by his
authority, with the intention that it should pass as being
made by some person, real or fictitious, other than the
person who makes or authorises it

(4) It is immaterial in what language a document is expressed or in
what country or place and whether within or beyand the Republic
it is expressed to take effact.

(5} The crossing of any cheque, banker's draft, post office money
order, postal order or other document the crossing of which is
authorised or recognized by law, is a matenal part of such
document.

PROHIBITION OF FORGERY

Na person shall commit forgery,

Penalty: Imprisonment for 10 years

UTTERING FORGED DOCUMENTS

Na person, knowing a document to be farged, shall;

{a) use, deal with, or act upon it as if it were genuine;

{h) cause any person to use, deal with, act upen it as if it were genuine.



